
Polar Capital 
Technology Trust PLC

Annual report and accounts
for the year ended 30 April 2006



Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC

OBJECTIVE
The investment objective is to maximise

capital growth for our shareholders through

investing in a diversified portfolio of

technology companies around the world. 

RATIONALE
Over the last two decades the technology

industry has been one of the most vibrant,

dynamic and rapidly growing segments of

the global economy. Technology companies

offer the potential for substantially faster

earnings growth than the broad market,

reflecting the long-term secular uptrend in

technology spending. 

INVESTMENT APPROACH
Stocks are selected for their potential for

shareholder returns, not on the basis of

technology for its own sake. We believe in

rigorous fundamental analysis and focus on: 

• management quality 

• the identification of new growth

markets 

• the globalisation of major technology

trends and 

• exploiting international valuation

anomalies and sector volatility 

MANAGEMENT
Polar Capital has been the appointed

investment manager throughout the year.

Mr. Brian Ashford-Russell, the appointed

fund manager, has been responsible for the

Company’s portfolio since its launch and

before that for the Company’s predecessor,

TR Technology PLC, throughout its life. 

Mr Ben Rogoff is deputy fund manager and

along with Mr Ashford-Russell directs a team

of four technology specialists. 

The Company pays both a basic

management fee as well as a performance

fee if performance is above a predetermined

level. Further details are given in the Report

of the Directors. 

Information on the Company can be accessed

at: www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk

and further shareholder information is given

at the back of this report. 

Investors should be aware that the value

of the Company’s shares may reflect the

greater relative volatility of technology

shares. Technology shares are subject to

the risks of developing technologies,

competitive pressures and other factors

including the acceptance by business and

consumers of new technologies. Many

companies in the technology sector are

smaller companies and are therefore also

subject to the risks attendant on investing

in smaller capitalisation businesses.

Polar Capital Technology Trust Plc – ProfilE

Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC was launched on 16 December 1996 under the name Henderson 

Technology Trust PLC, with the issue of ordinary shares plus one warrant attached to every five shares.

The original subscription price for each share was £1. On 30 September 2005 the warrants reached

their final exercise date and were converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

In 2005, the shareholders voted to continue the life of the Company and they will have in 2010 and

every five years thereafter the right to approve, or otherwise, the continued existence of the Company. 
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FINANCIAL 
(Restated)

Year ended Year ended Movement 
30 April 2006 30 April 2005 % 

Net assets per ordinary share† 255.88p 189.77p 34.8 

Price per ordinary share 245.00p 165.50p 48.0 

Total net assets†† £358,202,000 £236,439,000 51.5 

Shares in issue 139,990,821 115,320,162 21.4

† On 30 September 2005, all outstanding warrants were exercised resulting in the issue of 19,195,659 new shares. 

Also on 6 February 2006 5,752,000 ordinary shares of 25p were issued. The net assets per ordinary share shown for 

30 April 2005 is the diluted NAV which includes an adjustment to reflect a theoretical exercise of warrants and a

further adjustment for IFRS. The undiluted net assets per share at 30 April 2005 adjusted for IFRS is 205.03p.
†† The total net assets figures have been calculated in accordance with IFRS and the 30 April 2005 figure restated.

For more information on IFRS please refer to the Financial Review on page 20 and Note 1 to the financial statements.

INDEX CHANGES over the year ended 30 April 2006 (Total Return)

Local Sterling
Currency % Adjusted %

Benchmark (to 30 April 2006) – 35.7 

Technology Indices: 

Dow Jones World Technology 25.7 32.1 

NYSE Arca Technology 100 24.5 30.9 

MS Eurotec (based in US dollars) 29.0 35.5 

FTSE Techmark 100 – 35.0 

Tecdax 46.5 50.2 

Tokyo SE Electronics 50.1 44.9 

DS Asia ex Japan Electronics 24.6 30.9 

Market Indices: 

FTSE World – 33.2 

S&P 500 Composite 15.4 21.3 

FTSE All-Share – 32.4 

FTSE World Europe (ex UK) – 41.8 

Tokyo SE (Topix) 53.6 48.3

FTSE World Pacific Basin (ex Japan) – 45.3 

EXCHANGE RATES
30 April 2006 30 April 2005 

US$ to £ 1.8177 1.9099 

Japanese Yen to £ 207.58 200.38 

Euro to £ 1.4430 1.4794

Highlights
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Chairman’s report
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World equity markets delivered excellent

returns for the year to 30 April 2006 and your

Company enjoyed a successful year. Our NAV

per share, although negatively impacted by

the warrant conversion in September 2005,

rose by 34.8%, slightly behind our composite

benchmark but ahead of the Dow Jones

World Technology Index and most other

global technology indices. Encouragingly,

the discount at which the Company’s shares

traded relative to their underlying net asset

value diminished thereby further enhancing

shareholder returns. 

The wall that markets climbed over the last

twelve months was not short of worries.

Indeed, oil prices over $70 and soaring

commodity prices, US 10 year bond yields

climbing above 5% and bellicose rhetoric

from a number of world leaders might have

been expected to unsettle investors’ nerves.

Instead, there were just a few short-lived

setbacks on the climb to the levels of 30 April.

The global economy has been buoyant with

a healthy increase in the number of its

cylinders firing in the right direction. In

particular, the Japanese economy gathered

more self sustaining momentum while that

in Europe has been led upwards by an

increasingly confident corporate sector.

Growth elsewhere in Asia has been robust

and broader based, while in the USA there

are finally some signs that the business

sector is taking up the running from the

debt-burdened but still surprisingly resilient

household sector. Global imbalances,

however, remain a concern although their

long anticipated consequences for the US

dollar failed to materialise: the dollar

actually rose over our financial year. 

Strong economic growth translated to

outstanding company results, particularly so

as the corporate sector – contrary to most

expectations – managed to secure a further

rise in margins. With companies still

cautious about capital spending, cash flows

soared and inevitably attracted the

attentions of both corporate and private

equity based predators. Merger and

acquisition activity took place at levels not

seen in years and naturally helped to lift

equity markets.

While the vast majority of attention has

been focused on the energy and mining

areas, technology shares managed to keep

pace with the market. Notwithstanding

deteriorating conditions in the long mature

PC market and growing price pressure in

some areas of the medical industry,

technology earnings rose strongly. The sector

benefited from a modest improvement in its

relative rating, the result more of a reduction

in the rate of technology mutual fund

redemptions than of a marked increase in

investor interest. Smaller cap technology

stocks did, however, see an encouraging

return of investor interest, a development

fully justified by the relative earnings

performance of the emerging generation of

technology companies as compared to their

more mature counterparts. Many of these

smaller companies represent interesting

plays on the emergence of a whole wave of

new technologies that are increasingly

confining older and more conventional

technology areas to the shade. In that and

other senses, the last year has done much to

World equity markets delivered

excellent returns for the year to 

30 April 2006 and your Company

enjoyed a successful year. 



reinforce our belief in the prospects for a

new technology cycle.

For much of the last two years, the global

economy appears to have benefited from

the collaring effect on its growth path of a

number of natural stabilisers. When growth

has been at the top end of its range,

commodity prices and interest rates have risen

thereby dampening the rate of expansion

and ensuring that overheating was avoided. 

When growth has slowed, interest rates and

commodity prices have retreated

stimulating consumer spending and

reaccelerating the economy. To date, these

natural stabilisers have worked well in

producing the much discussed “Goldilocks”

economy – not too fast and not too slow.

Two of the biggest risks to the maintenance

of this scenario are a rise in inflation and a

collapse in the US housing market. The latter

has certainly slowed but appears at this

point to be entering a subdued phase rather

than a free fall (much as has been the case

with our own housing market in the UK). The

new Federal Reserve Chairman, Mr Bernanke

has a difficult path to tread as he attempts

to balance the need to stave off inflationary

risks with the desire to avoid tightening too

far and for too long. The chalice that he was

passed by his predecessor may yet prove to

be of a more poisoned form than was

apparent from the eulogies that

accompanied Dr Greenspan’s retirement.

Chairman’s report (continued)
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After our year end, there was a major

correction in equity markets during the

middle weeks of May with most indices

falling sharply and the Dow Jones World

Technology Index dropping 10% to levels

last seen in November. There had been

some signs earlier in the Spring that investor

optimism was reaching excessive levels but

the correction was triggered by an

unexpectedly large rise in US inflation in

April. This led to worries about higher

interest rates and lower economic growth.

Investors seem to have experienced a

serious loss of risk appetite which may hold

back markets in our new financial year. For

the moment, we are preserving the modest

levels of liquidity established in April but in

some areas the scale of the falls is beginning

to tempt us.

Action in the broader equity market is likely

to dominate the prospects for the

technology sector over the shorter term.

However, we have been encouraged by

developments at a fundamental level. The

continuing commoditisation of broadband

communications capacity is ushering in an

era of exciting new applications while the

impact of technology in areas generally

considered outside the core (but

increasingly outdated) definition of the

industry is hugely under-appreciated. The

negative attitudes of both investors and

corporations to technology are slowly

softening and, with capital spending as a

percentage of sales beginning to recover

around the world, technology companies

should be significant beneficiaries. We

remain optimistic about the emergence of a

new cycle but believe that the leaders of

that cycle will be a very different group of

companies from those with which most

investors are familiar.

Action in the broader equity market

is likely to dominate the prospects

for the technology sector over the

shorter term. However, we have been

encouraged by developments at a

fundamental level. 



During the last quarter of our financial year,

our manager, Brian Ashford-Russell, took a

sabbatical leave. This gave the Board an

opportunity closely to watch how the deputy

manager and the rest of Polar’s technology

team would fare in his absence. The Board

was very happy with the results and, as a

consequence, now feel it an appropriate

time to adopt the management changes

which have been agreed with our fund

managers, Polar Capital LLP. Ben Rogoff,

who has been responsible for the

Company’s US portfolio over the last three

years, will take over as manager while Craig

Mercer, our Asian manager, will assume the

role of deputy manager. The Board are

delighted that Brian Ashford-Russell has

agreed to continue as a Director both in

order to provide continuity and to work

closely with his successor in defining and

developing the Company’s strategy.

Sadly, two of our Directors resigned earlier

this year due to the pressure of their other

commitments. Cor Stutterheim had been a

Director of the Company since 1998 and

David Rhodes since the Company’s

foundation in 1996. We are immensely

grateful to them for their contribution over

the last nine years. The Board has begun the

task of seeking suitable replacements.

Over the last two years, the Company has

bought back a substantial amount of shares.

One unforeseen consequence of this has
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been to raise the high water mark used in

the calculation of any performance fees

payable. The Board is taking the opportunity

afforded by a review of the management

contract to look at the high water mark

calculation and is considering moving to a

high water mark method based on assets

per share rather than on the total amount of

assets. The objective is to achieve a more

equitable calculation method and effectively

return the Company to the position

prevailing before the buy backs. Details of

this change will be announced shortly. 

In addition, the Board has changed the

Company’s benchmark to the Dow Jones

World Technology Index. This index has now

been in existence for more than seven years,

is generally accepted as a global technology

benchmark and has the considerable merit

of avoiding the complexity and opaqueness

of our current composite benchmark. It is

also more in keeping with the benchmarks

used by the Company’s peer group. This

change takes effect from 1 May 2006.

Richard Wakeling 

13 June 2006

with capital spending as a percentage

of sales beginning to recover

around the world, technology

companies should be significant

beneficiaries. We remain optimistic

about the emergence of a new cycle



Fund Managers’ Report
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It has been a very good year for investors in

most equity markets and sectors and one in

which technology investors have fully

participated. The USA produced the best

relative performance but Japan was the

source of the strongest absolute returns.

One of the features of the year was the

return to favour of small technology

companies, particularly in the USA where

the preceding two years had seen some

dramatic underperformance.

Our own performance was satisfactory. The

warrant exercise in September 2005 diluted

our returns for the year but, adjusting for

that, we performed ahead of our composite

benchmark and most global technology

indices. At a regional level, we delivered very

good outperformance in Asia and were well

ahead of our benchmark in the USA. In Europe

we only marginally outperformed with

performance impacted by some ill-considered

smaller cap investments in the UK. Such

liquidity as we held (which in the early summer

of last year was around 10%) proved

expensive and this together with not having

a sufficiently large exposure to Asia and to

US and German smaller companies were our

main disappointments. However, there were

many grounds for encouragement including

how well the younger members of our team

rose to the challenge of looking after the

portfolio during my absence in the first quarter

of 2006. We have invested heavily in building

the team during what has been a painful

and extended downturn in the technology

industry and are now very fortunate to have

access to some impressive talent.

When I took over the management of this

Company’s predecessor in 1988, a vast part

of the technology industry that we now take

for granted had been barely developed and

in many cases not even conceived. It has

been truly astonishing and incredibly

exciting to watch and participate in some of

that change. The changing landscape of the

industry is however a source not just of

enormous interest but also of tremendous

competitive risk and of opportunity. Over

the last two decades, countless once

favoured, even eulogised, companies have

fallen by the wayside while hardly more than

a handful that back then constituted part of

a genuine growth portfolio would now still

qualify. This issue of risk discourages large

numbers of generalist investors from a

sector that we believe offers almost

unparalleled opportunity. As I wrote last

year, we are believers in the emergence of a

new technology cycle notwithstanding the

rampant scepticism that such a suggestion

has tended to encounter. Many of the

ingredients for such a cycle are already or

have been apparent over the last 12 months

namely investor disillusionment, institutional

underweighting of the group, the

commoditisation of a key demand driver for

new technology, applications finally

beginning to catch up with hardware

performance, clearly identifiable productivity

benefits from investment in new

technologies, the emergence of a new

generation of companies and the

broadening out of the demand

constituency. The last year has encouraged

us in our views. However, there is a danger

that investors focus too much on older

technologies expecting a revival there when

the game has moved on to a very different

stage. Technology is not just about

computers and software but is far more

It has been a very good year for

investors in most equity markets and

sectors and one in which technology

investors have fully participated. 



broadly based and is having a dramatic

impact on some very dull and conventional

industries. The greatest opportunity for

investors in this industry comes from being

willing to be open minded rather than

blinkered and to positively relish change and

the potential it creates while balancing that

perspective with a commercially disciplined

approach. We are at a point in the cycle

where stock specific risk is high, where many

of the emerging companies have as yet

immature business models and are thus

inherently riskier and where many of the

companies that may yet lead the new cycle

are not yet public. Consequently, we are at a

stage where we need to blend a rigorous

investment process with a willingness to take

some risky bets on where technology is

going to evolve. Doing so will – I believe – be

very rewarding. Technology cycles tend to be

long and to justify patience and we believe

that the returns over the next 5-7 years will

very satisfactorily repay investors. Over the

last eighteen years, an investment made in

this Company’s predecessor and converted

into shares and warrants in this Company

would have produced annualised total

returns of approximately 18%pa, almost

twice those delivered by the MSCI World

Index. I see no reason why similar returns

should not be achievable over the next

eighteen years with a technology portfolio in

the hands of the very talented team to

whom I will be handing over the day to day

management of the Company.

Brian Ashford-Russell

US
After experiencing a painful start to

calendar year 2005, US equity markets

rebounded sharply before resuming a

steadier upward path through fiscal year

end. Overall returns were pleasing, with the

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2006 7

S&P 500 gaining 21% in sterling terms,

aided by a resurgent US Dollar. Despite the

significant headwinds represented by tighter

monetary policy and soaring energy prices,

economic growth largely surprised to the

upside with concomitant revisions to

corporate earnings accounting for the bulk

of equity returns. That markets have been

able to move higher despite the eight

consecutive rate hikes that have taken Fed

Funds to 5% reflects the fact that core

inflation measures have remained relatively

benign, despite a stronger economy and

rampant commodity and asset (real-estate)

pricing. Likewise, corporate credit spreads

have remained tight despite higher

sovereign bond yields, providing ample

liquidity to support the relentless merger

and acquisition activity that has thus far

helped underpin markets. 

Technology investors were rewarded for their

patience as rotation towards more

economically-sensitive sectors saw

technology benchmarks outpace the

broader market. The NYSE Arca Tech 100

Index gained a very respectable 31% in

sterling terms. Most interestingly, many of

the mega-cap technology companies that

have hitherto been thought of as leaders,

faltered. The poor fundamentals in the PC

space finally caught up with Dell (-25% in

local terms) which delivered a number of

profit-warnings during the year. Likewise,

microprocessor giant Intel (-14%)

continued to lose share to its long-standing

rival AMD culminating in a disastrous Q1

report. In software, both Microsoft (-3%)

and Symantec (-13%) performed

particularly poorly reflecting deteriorating

growth profiles and further multiple

compression. Even in the internet space,

long-standing ‘winners’ such as eBay (+9%)

and Yahoo! (-5%) meaningfully lagged

newer entrants such as Google (+90%). 

As tempting as it might be to explain this

mega-cap underperformance as simply

mirroring the experience of the broader

market, a sensible explanation is more

significant and less transitory than that. 

Our positive medium-term prognosis

depends heavily on our successful

identification of a series of investment

themes that are at or are approaching

inflection points. The primary driver of a

number of these themes is identical –

broadband ubiquity. As a result of falling

prices and demand elasticity, ‘always-on’

access, more bandwidth and ‘all-you-can-

eat’ tariffs have fundamentally altered

broadband usage. New applications have

been developed to take advantage of near

ubiquitous broadband including ‘paid-

search’ as epitomised by Google, and the

online music stores such as iTunes (owned

by Apple) which has sold more than one

billion songs since its inception less than four

years ago. Other applications that have

become pertinent as a result of broadband

penetration include Voice-over-Internet-

Protocol (VoIP), the ability to make voice

calls over data networks, and ‘hosted

software’, where applications are delivered

via a generic web browser. Aided by an

explosion in legally-available digital content

and new wireless connectivity technologies

such as Bluetooth, broadband access is also

fuelling new consumer applications such as

PVRs (Personal Video Recorders), MP3 players,

and a plethora of WiFi-enabled devices. 

In other words, broadband is already much

more than just ‘fast’ internet access. It is in

fact the kernel of a shift away from ‘client-

server’, the most prevalent IT architecture

today towards ‘on-demand’ or ‘utility

computing’ which in a world where



Fund Manager’s Report (continued)
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bandwidth is plentiful means that

computing resources can be allocated on an

as-needed basis. In this world, the devices at

the edges of the network are ‘thin’ meaning

that they do not have to be capable of

processing information themselves. They

merely receive the output of processing

done elsewhere and then delivered in real-

time. It is of course this structural change

that ties together the (deteriorating)

fortunes of Microsoft, Intel, Dell and

Symantec. Each company today dominates

its respective market and therefore has

much to lose to this disruptive change.

Despite their balance sheets, scale

economies and human capital, history

demonstrates that few technology

companies retain their status following an

architectural shift. 

As if it wasn’t already obvious, our poorest

performing holdings were those with most

to lose from structural change. The fact that

most of these stocks started the year

modestly valued is testament to the fact

that ‘value’ means little whilst

fundamentals are weakening. This

experience should hopefully enable us to

avoid more of these ‘value-traps’ in future.

On a positive note, we had a number of

emphatic winners enjoying exposure to

markets or themes which were inflecting

positively. Our holding in Corning (+100%)

which we highlighted in last year’s report,

benefited from ongoing LCD television

penetration, whilst a number of our ‘digital

consumer’ stocks delivered strong returns,

including Broadcom (+106%) and Apple

Computer (+95%). Continued broadband

adoption not only benefited Google but also

a number of companies exposed to

increased internet infrastructure spending

such as storage vendor Network Appliance

(39%). Mobile handsets had a surprisingly

good year with Motorola (39%) doing

particularly well due to the success of its

RAZR phone whilst Qualcomm (+47%)

benefited from improving (3G) handset mix.

Given the 44% oil price rise, alternative

energy was another hot area. We had a

number of holdings which benefited from

their exposure to the solar industry, but our

best performer by far was MEMC Electronic

Materials (+246%), a vertically-integrated

silicon wafer manufacturer benefiting

indirectly from solar cell growth. 

For the upcoming year, notwithstanding

recent sharp falls, we expect the market to

make further gains albeit skewed towards

the second half of the year. Certainly

valuations look appealing; the S&P currently

trades at just 15.6x current year earnings,

lower than at the start of 2005. Although

some multiple compression is to be

expected given that corporate profitability is

at thirty-five year highs and the Federal

Reserve is in tightening mode, the forward

PE is at levels last witnessed when long

dated bonds yielded in excess of 8%. Even

after the recent bond sell-off that has seen

ten year yields move above 5%, equities still

sport a superior 6.5% earnings yield. Whilst

we expect the economy to slow as higher

energy prices, sixteen consecutive rate

increases and a less vibrant housing market

finally take their toll, there is little reason

why S&P earnings could not rise by as much

as 10%. In addition to a solid earnings

backdrop, equities look well supported by

exceptionally strong balance sheets and

Technology investors were rewarded

for their patience as rotation

towards more economically-sensitive

sectors saw technology benchmarks

outpace the broader market. 



attractive cash-flows. The rude health of

corporate finances has resulted in tight

credit spreads which, together with plentiful

liquidity, has led to frenetic multi-sector

M&A activity, private equity buyouts and

share buybacks. In essence, non-traditional

investors have begun to recognise the value

inherent in equities relative to their cost of

capital which, in turn should continue to

provide considerable market support.

Although equities are cheap, we have only

adopted a cautiously optimistic stance. If

growth continues to exceed expectations,

the Fed will have to raise rates or risk an

overheating economy. Moreover, any further

evidence that commodity and energy prices

were beginning to impact core inflation

would likely lead to outright monetary

restraint. Either way, short rates much higher

than where they stand today would be

unambiguously bearish for financial assets.

The good news is that we think slowing

growth should allow nascent inflationary

pressures to subside. We do not believe this

is the end of disinflation, nor do we believe

that a recession is a high-probability event.

However, the risks associated with equity

ownership appear to have increased which

means that until the data proves otherwise,

there is probably limited upside to valuations. 

In addition to the prospect of tightening

liquidity and rising risk premiums, there are a

number of other factors that help explain

why headline valuations look as attractive as

they do. Energy prices continue to represent

perhaps the greatest risk to our base case; a

meaningful move higher would impact

consumer spending and likely upset the core

inflation applecart. Geopolitical dislocation,

notably relations with Iran, poses a

significant exogenous threat to markets.

Lastly, on a more superficial level we are
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entering a seasonal period which has rarely

(relatively) rewarded the technology

investor. Earnings visibility typically

diminishes post Q1 results as business slows

into the summer. This seasonal pattern is

often accompanied by inventory build as

companies prepare for the strong final

quarter of the year. So far it appears that

this pattern is playing out this year as a

number of our indicators point to a near-

term peak in the semiconductor cycle. As

such we have reduced our cyclical exposure

in favour of areas where strong secular

trends should prove more resilient to short-

lived headwinds. 

Once these headwinds subside, we

anticipate the sector will have finally

reached the long-term inflection point that

we have been awaiting. Indeed many of the

ingredients necessary for a turning point to

occur are already in place. Almost enough

time has passed since the market peak –

previous tech cycles have lasted between

twelve and fifteen years peak to peak which

points to a low occurring later this year. As

discussed already, valuations are

undemanding. Analysis by Frank Russell

demonstrates that technology stocks

currently trade at a discount to their ten

year average relative multiple, excluding the

bubble. Prevailing sentiment towards the

technology sector is at best ambivalent. The

one elusive ingredient for which we have

been searching – the next killer application –

is now finally apparent. The fast internet

connection to your home, your business and

before long your mobile phone is driving

change everywhere.

Unsurprisingly, our thematic focus is aimed

squarely at this broadband theme. We

believe that ongoing penetration will

continue to positively impact internet usage

which in turn should benefit companies such

as Google that are able to monetise traffic

and transactions. Traffic trends are set to

accelerate as video downloading becomes

more prevalent. Significant advances in

digital rights management (DRM) have

allowed media companies such as Disney to

make the hitherto unthinkable decision to

make more of their content available for

digital download. Our purest exposure to

this trend is Akamai, a software company

that is to internet traffic what FedEx is to

postage. We are also particularly excited

about new applications that are enabled by

broadband. The delivery of software via the

web on a subscription basis significantly

lowers adoption risk as there is no upfront

capital cost. Furthermore the subscription

model should ensure that supplier and

customer interests remain well-aligned. Our

favoured names in this area include Webex,

a provider of web conferencing and

collaboration software, and Salesforce.com,

an on-demand CRM software supplier. 

Whilst deployment of broadband has

proved an attractive short-term fix for

growth-challenged incumbent telecom

operators, it also dramatically changes the

dynamics of telephony provision. The ability

to deliver voice over data networks (VoIP) is

allowing cable operators to leverage their

existing assets whilst making it possible for

new entrants such as Skype (recently bought

by eBay) to offer voice telephony for ‘free’.

According to Instat, there will be nearly 7

million broadband IP telephony subscribers

in the US by end 2006. Our holding in

Audiocodes, a maker of VoIP gateways,

should be a clear beneficiary of this trend. As

telecom subscriber losses start to bite, we

expect incumbent operators to respond by

deploying either IPTV (Internet Protocol

Television) or “Triple Play” (voice, data and
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video) offerings. Elsewhere in the digital

consumer space, we have modestly reduced

our exposure to LCD televisions as

penetration rates have moved north of 20%

implying that this theme has less than a

year left before it will have played out from

an investment perspective. We remain

positive about the prospects for continued

adoption of wireless technologies such as

Bluetooth and believe that PVR penetration

is currently at an inflection point.

We are getting more positive about the

prospects for mobile data usage as we expect

to finally see 3G penetration rates reach 10%

later this year which should presage

wholesale adoption over the next few years.

Most wireless operators are beginning to

understand that given high penetration rates

and falling voice pricing further growth will be

difficult to achieve absent a wholesale take-

up of mobile data services. Improvements to

next-generation handsets have removed the

largest impediment to adoption whilst

increased deployment of EDGE and GPRS

technologies has gone a considerable way

towards creating data-capable networks.

The introduction of a new mobile telephony

protocol called High Speed Downlink Packet

Access (HSDPA) should finally deliver true

broadband speeds. If offered under ‘as

much as you can eat’ tariffs, we believe

mobile data consumption will change

dramatically. Applications that we anticipate

gaining most traction include email, push-

based information services, integrated GPS-

based navigation and digital TV.

Lastly, it is worth pointing out that having

identified the solar energy theme relatively

early, we have significantly reduced our

exposure as we are nervous that rampant

polysilicon prices may scuttle gross margins.

Instead, we have begun making investments

in companies with exposure to next-

generation light emitting diode (LED) based

lighting. We have been monitoring the

progress of LED technology for some time

believing that an inflection point was some

years away. However technology advances

combined with high energy prices have

ameliorated payback periods. We also

believe that the current focus on alternative

energy sources will necessarily shift towards

the pursuit of reducing energy consumption.

Lighting today accounts for over 20% of US

energy consumption; wholesale adoption of

LED-based lighting could reduce this to just

7%. With this is mind, we think favourable

legislation and/or subsidies are inevitable

before long.

Ben Rogoff

EUROPE
European shares surged forward over the

year with the Eurostoxx Index gaining more

than 25% and certain markets, notably

Germany, racing ahead by a good deal

more. The backdrop for equity markets was

very supportive with interest rates for the

most part on hold, inflation subdued and

some signs of more positive economic

momentum. Corporate earnings growth was

impressive and cashflow performance

outstanding. The year provided further

evidence of the degree to which positive

micro-economic developments in the region

have outpaced macro-economic recovery.

Companies continue to restructure their cost

bases and balance sheets and focus

increasing attention on bottom line returns.

the next killer application – is now

finally apparent. The fast internet

connection to your home, your

business and before long your mobile

phone is driving change everywhere



The pace of development in Eastern Europe

provided a further boost to many businesses

and the influx of low cost labour into

Western European markets has helped to

contain wage inflation.

While the returns from the “headline” indices

were impressive, even more dramatic gains

were recorded by the mid and small cap

indices. Strong earnings growth, a sharp pick

up in corporate activity and growing risk

appetites led to greatly increased

institutional and retail flows into this area.

Relatively tight liquidity produced

exaggerated price rises resulting in a

material re-rating of, in particular, mid caps

relative to their larger counterparts.

At a sectoral level, attention focussed on oils,

commodity related stocks and industrials. In

many cases, the moves seen in these areas

were spectacular and, by the end of the

year, an unhealthy degree of speculative

fever had become apparent. One

consequence of this renewed hunger for

these areas was a dramatic increase in the

number of new issues. Indeed, the

combination of a buoyant new issue market

and frenetic merger and acquisition activity

produced one of the best years ever for

corporate financiers.

Against this backdrop, one might reasonably

have expected technology stocks to

underperform due to a lack of attention.

However, both the large and small cap

indices outpaced the Stoxx with Germany’s

Techdax up 46.5% over the year. The

Techdax’s performance was flattered by the

extraordinary strength of the solar cell

companies as investors sought out

alternative energy suppliers likely to benefit

from the surge in oil prices. We invested in Q

Cells as a way to benefit from this trend but,

in recent months, have avoided exposure
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fearing that a change in the supply-demand

balance for polysilicon could undermine the

industry’s pricing structure later this year.

Our large cap exposure has been relatively

modest over the year. Amongst the larger

companies, a number of semiconductor

related shares performed well while both

Nokia and SAP enjoyed good years: SAP on

the back of continuing strong growth and

market share gains; Nokia due to the

strength of the wireless handset markets in

the developing world. Services companies

tended to lag, with the notable exception of

Cap, and both software and communications

shares had mixed years.

Unsurprisingly, our best returns came from

our smaller capitalisation holdings. A number

of our longer standing holdings enjoyed very

good years – Wincor, Aveva, Royal Blue,

Software AG and Austria Microsystems all

rose by 65-80%. We also had some major

successes amongst new holdings: CSR (now

sold), ADB – a set top box manufacturer,

United Internet, a rapidly growing German

ISP and NDS, a provider of encryption

software for subscription television.

In contrast, our healthcare stocks struggled.

The biotechnology sector proved a mixed

bag while price pressure led to a tough year

for many medical device companies. The

more speculative end of the UK technology

sector also performed poorly. In this area, a

combination of excessive IPO activity and

poor quality control by many sponsoring

brokers led to a significant number of ‘blow-

ups’ and a consequently much reduced

appetite for these companies on the part of

both retail and institutional investors.

The recent pronounced sell-off in markets

has hit European smaller and mid cap

technology shares particularly hard. In doing

so, it has helped to eliminate much of the

speculative froth apparent earlier in the

Spring. However, further consolidation would

be desirable and seems likely as the positive

influences of strong corporate profits growth

and still plentiful liquidity encounter the

downward pressure on share prices exerted

by rising interest rates, fairly full company

valuations and new issue indigestion.

Against that backdrop, we are retaining the

liquidity that we raised from selling some of

our more expensive and extended mid cap

names but are looking for opportunities to

add to our core smaller company holdings. 

Sectorally, we see attractive prospects in

communications and we are beginning to

feel more optimistic about the healthcare

sector following last year’s

underperformance and the emergence of

some more appetising valuations. We are

also continuing to look for opportunities in

the digital / high definition media and

resource-related markets both of which we

see as very attractive over the medium term. 

Brian Ashford-Russell

ASIA
One year ago we summarised that the

bullish reflation story for the Japanese

economy had turned into reality, but that

the market was unable to move to new

highs. Twelve months on one is struck by

how little the economic backdrop has

actually changed – the virtuous cycle that

has emerged since exiting deflation is still

delivering impressive growth – but yet how

dramatically different the equity market’s

performance has been; the Topix index

surged an astonishing 51.9% in local

currency terms. Our view on the economy

remains simple yet resolute – it will continue

in the same vein for the foreseeable future.
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While last year we could talk of real estate

prices bottoming and bank lending

stabilising, this year both have actually been

rising. We can continue to look forward to

the positive knock-on impacts on consumer

and corporate confidence, fuelled by strong

cashflow, increasingly feeding through to

higher consumption and capital expenditure. 

As ever, though, the outlook for the market

itself is rather more complicated. Given the

striking symmetry of the moves in 2003 and

2005, the superficial temptation is to say

that we are currently at a stage similar to

that of April 2004, which of course heralded

a rather difficult six month period of

digestion. Surprisingly enough a closer

examination of our market timing indicators

does indeed uncover many uncomfortable

parallels, led by the all important

semiconductor sector itself. We shall dwell

on this further after reporting in more detail

on the last 12 months.

The headline returns over the year for all the

relevant Asian indices actually turned out to

be broadly similar in sterling terms; in Japan

the Topix index gained 48.3% with the

technology sector up 44.9%, while the

MSCI Asia Pacific (excluding Japan)

Information Technology index rose 49.4%.

The only significant exception was the

performance of the small cap growth

segment in Japan which actually fell 12.3%

(as measured by the TSE Mothers index).

The Japanese market enjoyed a significant

breakout during August after Prime Minister

Koizumi successfully outmaneuvered less

radical members of his own party to fully

assert his authority ahead of a

comprehensive victory at the polls. A classic

liquidity-driven rally ensued, led by the

financial and asset-backed sectors such as

real estate. This was truly a bull market in full

flight as value traded went to new all-time

highs on an almost daily basis. The

technology sector lagged this surge badly for

the first couple of months until an explosive

three week rally in November largely closed

the divergence with the broader market.

What followed was a three month period of

quite astonishing volatility in small cap

growth stocks. The Mothers market surged

around 50% in only two months, before a

damaging scandal at a leading internet

company (Livedoor) led to an even larger

and more spectacular sell-off. While there

will be some notable exceptions, we would

expect such tumultuous action to result in a

more prolonged period of consolidation for

Japanese small caps generally. 

Turning to the Asian markets it is pleasing to

note that Korea comprehensively

outperformed Taiwan (+72.8% for the Kospi

versus +26.8% for the TWSE in sterling

terms), albeit with the rider that the

divergence was more prominent outside the

tech sector itself. We highlighted last year,

somewhat at odds to the wider consensus,

that we saw many parallels between the

turnaround underway in Korea and that

which we had also witnessed unfolding in

Japan. That thesis remains in place today

and we have found a variety of interesting

companies, primarily in the internet sector,

which we believe still have alluring growth

prospects in the years to come. At the same

time we do remain cognisant that while the

secular arguments for Korea remain firmly

intact, the market has historically proved to

be particularly vulnerable during periods of

waning cyclical momentum. The Taiwanese

market, in contrast, has generally failed to

broaden its scope much beyond the volume

end of the cyclical semiconductor and

hardware sub-sectors. As we will detail later,

this makes us cautious for the next six months.
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Last year we also made rather bold claims

for two areas where we had concentrated

our bets; flat panel televisions and solar

power. Again both were not without

controversy at the time, but we are pleased

to report that trends here have played out

as we forecast, and spectacularly so in the

case of our main solar-related holding –

Motech. The accelerated phase of adoption

for flat panel televisions has been in full

flight over the last year, to the extent that

we anticipate hitting a penetration level of

around 30% by Christmas 2006. This is

important as it typically marks the end of

what can be termed a “sweetspot” of

extraordinary profits for companies

operating in the industry. While volume

growth will continue to be explosive

thereafter, maintaining a similar level of

profit growth will be difficult for all but a

very select number of companies. Our stock

selection will therefore increasingly change

in nuance to emphasise those benefiting

directly from the still nascent diffusion of

high-definition TV, and those that can use

their status as ‘trojan horses’ for the wider

digital home concept.

Last year we highlighted Motech – a

Taiwanese solar cell producer – as the fund’s

largest and most exciting holding. A wider

recognition globally of the strategic

importance of renewable energy sources

has ensured that returns have been every bit

as significant as hoped. The stock remained

as the fund’s biggest holding until we sold

the entire position in April 2006, after

enjoying a gain in excess of 250%

compounded on top of the 150% already

achieved in the previous fiscal year. We are

still huge believers in the solar sector on a

long term secular view but two concerns

prompted our sale; firstly the stock had

reached our estimate of fair value, and

secondly our view that sector fundamentals

are set to come up against their first

significant ‘hurdle’ this year in the form of

escalating input prices. 

We have also noted in the past our

frustration at being unable to find enough

stock candidates to fully harness the growth

dynamic in China. We think we’ve finally

found one particularly exciting franchise for

the next several years, a company called

Sinosoft. They are the market leaders in

providing tax software solutions for export

companies in China and have formed an

enviable competitive bridgehead by initially

targeting system provision for local

government tax authorities in several key

provinces. Companies are then obliged to

buy compliant software from Sinosoft to

enable them to file their export taxes

electronically. The intriguing part is that the

central government are now driving this

process out to many other provinces

nationwide over the next five years. Growth

opportunities for Sinosoft are therefore

abundant, if management can continue to

execute as heretofore.

I would like to conclude by being more

explicit on our thoughts regarding the

semiconductor sector. Overall our strongly

held positive secular views on Japan, Korea

and a myriad of more technology-specific

themes make us extremely bullish on any

time horizon greater than 12 months.

However, it is fair to say that this needs to be

tempered somewhat by shorter term (6

months) cyclical concerns for the

semiconductor and related sub-sectors. The

recent results of an increasing number of

companies have flagged a propensity for

year over year growth in inventories to be

higher than year over year growth in sales,

particularly in the important PC and flash

memory segments. Historically this has been

a warning sign that end demand would

have to accelerate to prevent an abrupt

cutback in production in subsequent

quarters. Given that the summer months

have traditionally been a rather fallow

seasonal period for the sector, there is a

mounting danger of a 2004-style mid-cycle

correction. May’s sharp set-back may well

have marked the start of such a pull-back. 

A two quarter digestion period should be

more than sufficient before we can go on to

enjoy the much more significant upcycle we

see unfolding for 2007. In the meantime we

intend to place a greater emphasis on

companies generating stable cashflows, such

as IT services, before becoming aggressive

buyers of deep cyclicals into any decline.

Indeed, in closing, it’s worth reiterating that

long term investors should actually welcome

such mid-cycle corrections as it gives us the

chance to re-invest in areas where the

springboard is most loaded in our favour.

Craig Mercer



FUND DISTRIBUTION BY MARKET CAPITALISATION at 30 April 2006

CLASSIFICATION OF INVESTMENTS at 30 April 2006 

North Total 30 April Total 30 April*
America Europe Asia 2006 2005 

% % % % % 

Computing 7.9 2.1 3.5 13.5 10.8 

Components 12.5 1.3 5.3 19.1 22.2 

Software 8.2 7.6 – 15.8 18.3 

Services 1.7 3.0 4.0 8.7 2.5 

Communications 4.4 2.5 0.4 7.3 4.0 

Life Sciences 7.9 3.3 0.9 12.1 12.6 

Consumer, Media and Internet 1.9 2.6 3.5 8.0 6.6 

Other Technology 4.3 4.0 2.9 11.2 5.8 

Unquoted Investments 0.7 0.3 – 1.0 0.6 

Equity investments 49.5 26.7 20.5 96.7 83.4

Money Market Funds – 4.0 – 4.0 7.9 

Corporate Bonds – – – – 0.7 

Net Current Assets 0.4 2.0 9.0 11.4 26.7 

Loans – – (12.1) (12.1) ( 18.7) 

Other net assets/(liabilities) 0.4 6.0 (3.1) 3.3 16.6

Grand total (net assets of £358,202,000) 49.9 32.7 17.4 100.0 –

At 30 April 2005 (net assets of £236,439,000*) 41.9 44.4 13.7 – 100.0

* The net assets at 30 April 2005 and the 30 April 2005 classifications have been adjusted to reflect the impact of IFRS.

PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS
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Over $10bn 36.6%$2bn-$10bn 29.6%

Less than $2 bn 33.8%



EQUITY INVESTMENTS OVER 0.75% of net assets at 30 April 2006

NORTH AMERICA 
% of 

£’000s net assets 

4,808 Qualcomm Wireless IP 1.3%

3,967 Network Appliance Storage hardware 1.1%

3,894 Infosys IT services 1.1%

3,702 Genentech Biotechnology 1.0%

3,537 Lockheed Martin Aerospace/Defence 1.0%

3,412 Apple Computers Computing 1.0%

3,361 iShares Nasdaq Biotechnology Biotechnology 0.9%

3,303 Lam Research Semiconductor capital equipment 0.9%

3,081 Advanced Micro Devices Semiconductors 0.9%

3,010 Automatic Data Processing IT services 0.8%

2,952 Millipore Life sciences 0.8%

2,917 First Data IT services 0.8%

2,916 Corning Telecom equipment 0.8%

2,851 Agilent Technologies Test and measurement 0.8%

2,810 Amgen Biotechnology 0.8%

2,771 DST Systems IT services 0.8%

2,766 Harris Telecom equipment 0.8%

2,710 IBM IT services 0.8%

2,684 Autodesk Design software 0.8%

61,452 Total investments over 0.75% 17.2%

115,832 Other investments 32.3%

177,284 Total North American investments 49.5%
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EQUITY INVESTMENTS OVER 0.75% of net assets at 30 April 2006

EUROPE 
% of 

£’000s net assets 

4,561 Wincor Nixdorf ATM/POS hardware 1.3%
3,961 SAP Enterprise software 1.1%
3,927 Aveva Software 1.1%
3,886 Fresenius Medical Care Renal care products & services 1.1%
3,626 Atos Origin IT Services 1.0%
3,598 NDS Encryption software 1.0%
3,409 EDB Business Partner IT Services 1.0%
3,392 Sinosoft Software 0.9%
2,972 Inmarsat Satellite operator 0.8%
2,915 Psion Mobile computing 0.8%
2,898 Wacker Chemie Silicon manufacturer 0.8%
2,894 SES Global Satellite operator 0.8%
2,765 Sword IT Services 0.8%
2,759 Nokia Telecom equipment 0.8%
2,725 Austriamicrosystems Semiconductors 0.8%
2,707 GN Store Nord Digital hearing aids 0.8%

52,995 Total investments over 0.75% 14.9%

42,374 Other investments 11.8%

95,369 Total European investments 26.7%

ASIA 
% of 

£’000s net assets 

4,428 Nomura Research Institute IT services 1.2%
4,210 JSR LCD materials 1.2%
4,103 NHN Internet portal 1.1%
4,072 Aruze Gaming equipment 1.1%
4,063 Dena Internet/Mobile commerce 1.1%
3,994 Murata Components 1.1%
3,959 Keyence Components 1.1%
3,840 NEC Computing 1.1%
3,832 Cdnetworks Content delivery services 1.1%
3,592 Sharp Consumer electronics 1.0%
3,543 Kuroda Electric Components 1.0%
3,257 Nippon Sheet Glass Optical equipment 0.9%
3,082 Aiphone Entryphone systems 0.9%
3,035 Konica Minolta Office equipment 0.8%
2,804 Optex Surveillance sensors 0.8%

55,814 Total investments over 0.75% 15.5%

18,074 Other investments 5.0%

73,888 Total Asian investments 20.5%

PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS (continued)
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CHAIRMAN
R K A Wakeling MA (Cantab), Barrister, FCT (aged 59) 

Appointed to the Board and Chairman in 1996. Formerly Chief

Executive of Johnson Matthey plc 1991-1994 and a non-executive

director of Logica plc 1995-2002. Mr Wakeling is a non-executive

director of The Brunner Investment Trust plc. Mr Wakeling has served

on the Board for over 9 years and will stand for annual re-election.

Directors
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DIRECTORS 
B J D Ashford-Russell BA (Oxon) (aged 47) 

Appointed to the Board in 1996. Mr Ashford-Russell is a director

and founder of Polar Capital Partners. He was previously head of

the technology team at Henderson Global Investors. He has

managed the Company since launch. As Mr Ashford-Russell is

connected to the fund manager he will stand for annual re-election.

P F Dicks (aged 63) 

Appointed to the Board in 1996, elected Senior Independent

Director in May 2004 and Chairman of the Remuneration

Committee. Mr Dicks is a director of Standard Microsystems

Corporation and Graphite Enterprise Trust plc. He is also the

Chairman of Sportingbet plc and a director of several other

companies. Mr Dicks has served on the Board for over 9 years and

will stand for annual re-election.

D J Gamble (aged 62) 

Appointed to the Board in 2002. Mr Gamble was formerly the Chief

Executive of British Airways Pension Investment Management Ltd.

He is Chairman of Hermes Property Unit Trust and Montanaro

Smaller Companies Investment Trust plc as well as a trustee of the

IBM UK Pension Trust and investment advisor to the BBC Pension

Scheme. He also holds a number of other directorships. Under the

Articles of Association Mr Gamble stands for re-election at the AGM.

All Directors, with the exception of Mr Ashford-Russell, are

independent of the management company.



The Directors present their Business Review and Directors’ Report

for the year ended 30 April 2006.

INTRODUCTION
All companies are now required to publish a Business Review as part

of the Report of the Directors in respect of each financial year. The

purpose of the Business Review is to provide shareholders with a

balanced and comprehensive analysis of the development and

performance of the business of the Company and the position of

the Company at the end of the financial year. The Directors’ Report

has therefore been expanded to include the additional information

required by the Business Review and new sections on Business Risks,

Management of the Portfolio, Financial Review and Key

Performance Objectives have been added.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND STATUS
The business of the Company is to provide shareholders with access

to a discretionary managed portfolio of technology stocks and

shares selected on a worldwide basis. The Company’s investment

portfolio is a “long-only” fund which means that it buys and holds

shares to seek appreciation in their value and consequently in the

Net Asset Value of the Company.

The Company seeks to manage its portfolio in such a way as to

meet the tests set down in Section 842 of the Income and

Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and thus retrospectively qualifying on

an annual basis as an investment trust. This qualification permits

the accumulation of capital within the portfolio without any liability

to UK Capital Gains Tax.

The Company is structured as a public limited company and its

shares are listed and traded on the London Stock Exchange. 

The Company is an investment company as defined in Section 266

of the Companies Act 1985 and carried on business as an investment

trust in accordance with Section 842 of the Income and Corporation

Taxes Act 1988. HM Revenue & Customs approval of the Company’s

status as an investment trust has been received in respect of the year

ended 30 April 2005 subject to matters that may arise from any

subsequent enquiry into the Company’s tax return. The Directors are

of the opinion that the Company has and will continue to conduct its

affairs so as to enable it to obtain approval as an investment trust. 

The Company has no employees and the board is comprised of

non-executive Directors. The day to day operations of the Company

have been delegated to third-parties.

Business review and Directors’ Report
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OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGY
The Company’s investment objective has been since formation and

will continue to be to maximise capital growth for shareholders

through investing in a diversified portfolio of technology companies

around the world.

The Directors believe that the rationale for this objective continues

to be valid. Over the last two decades the technology industry has

been one of the most vibrant, dynamic and rapidly growing segments

of the global economy. Technology companies offer the potential

for substantially faster earnings growth than the broad market,

reflecting the long-term secular uptrend in technology spending.

As the Company is an investment vehicle for shareholders the

Directors have sought to ensure that the business of the Company

is managed by a leading specialist fund management team and

that the investment strategy remains attractive to shareholders.

The Directors also believe that a strong working relationship with

the management team will achieve the optimum return for

shareholders and to this end value the inclusion on the Board of the

senior member of the team, Mr. Ashford-Russell.

LIFE OF THE COMPANY
As reported at last years Annual General Meeting a simpler

mechanism is to being adopted for future continuation votes. 

The Articles of Association of the Company have been revised, and

subject to them being approved by the Shareholders at the AGM,

will provide that at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to

be held in 2010, and at every fifth Annual General Meeting

thereafter, a vote on whether the Company should continue will be

proposed as an ordinary resolution. Details on further changes to

the Articles are given below.

MANAGEMENT COMPANY – INVESTMENT
TEAM
On 31 October 2005 the investment management agreement was

transferred from Polar Capital Partners Limited to Polar Capital

Limited Liability Partnership, which is regulated by the Financial

Services Authority (“Polar Capital”). 

Under the terms of the investment management agreement Polar

Capital provides investment management, accounting, company

secretarial and administrative services. It has also procured the

provision of a share savings plan and ISA accounts for the

Company’s shares from BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Ltd.



The management agreement may be terminated by either party by

giving 12 months’ notice, but under certain circumstances the

Company may be required to pay up to one year’s management

charges if immediate notice is given and compensation would be

on a sliding scale if less than 12 months’ notice is given. 

Polar Capital provides a team of technology specialists led by Brian

Ashford-Russell (Asset allocation and strategy). The team comprises

of Ben Rogoff (US stocks), Craig Mercer (Asia stocks), Emma

Parkinson (European stocks) supported by Tim Woolley (US small

cap stocks), and two research analysts. Polar Capital also has other

specialist and geographically focused investment teams which

contribute to ideas generation.

During the last quarter of our financial year Brian Ashford-Russell, took

a sabbatical leave. This gave the Board an opportunity closely to watch

how the deputy manager and the rest of Polar Capital’s technology

team would fare in his absence. The Board was very happy with the

results and, as a consequence, now feels it an appropriate time to

adopt the management changes which have been agreed with our

fund managers, Polar Capital LLP. With effect from 13 June 2006 Ben

Rogoff, who has been responsible for the Company’s US portfolio over

the last three years, will take over as manager while Craig Mercer, our

Asian manager, will assume the role of deputy manager. The Board

are delighted that Brian Ashford-Russell has agreed to continue as a

Director both in order to provide continuity and to work closely with

his successor in defining and developing the Company’s strategy.

The Board through the Management Engagement Committee

has concluded that it is in the best interests of shareholders as a

whole that the appointment of Polar Capital LLP as investment

manager is continued.

MANAGEMENT COMPANY – FEE
ARRANGEMENTS
As reported in the Chairman’s Report the Board has taken the

opportunity afforded by a review of the management contract to

look at the high water mark calculation used to assess the payment

of performance fees. The effect of share buy backs on the existing

calculation has proved to be inequitable and has made the

achievement of a performance fee more difficult. The Board is

therefore considering proposals to move the whole fee calculation

basis to one based on gross assets per share rather than on the

present total amount of assets. This would effectively return the

high water mark to the position prevailing before the buy backs.
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Details of this change are expected to be finalised and announced

shortly. The Board has already agreed a new benchmark for the

performance fee which is set out in more detail below.

The current annual management fee and performance fee

arrangements were established in May 2000, and carried forward

into the current management agreement, (Polar Capital was

appointed the investment manager in February 2001). These

arrangements provide for an annual management fee of 1% of the

aggregate of the value of the Company’s net assets plus borrowings

incurred for investment purposes, paid quarterly in arrears. The Fees

are subject to VAT as applicable. In the year under review the annual

management charge amounted to £3,465,000 (2005:£3,224,000). 

The Company is also liable to pay a 15% performance fee split into

two parts; 10% of the amount, if any, by which the increase in the net

assets over the financial year exceeds the increase in the benchmark

over the year (“the relative performance fee”) subject to a high

water mark: and 5% of the amount, if any, by which the increase in

the net assets over each three year period exceeds LIBOR plus 5%

over the same period (“the absolute performance fee”). Each three

year period is discrete and the last period ended on 30 April 2006. 

Polar Capital agreed to continue with the high water mark

arrangements established when the Company was managed by

Henderson and will not seek a relative performance fee until the

previous level of performance at which such a fee was paid to

Henderson is exceeded. Polar Capital has decided to waive the

absolute performance fee which was due under this arrangement at

30 April 2006. Although the absolute performance fee does not

have a high water mark in the same way as the relative performance

fee, Polar Capital believes it should be treated as though it had and

under normal circumstances will continue to waive any future fee

entitlements under this arrangement until the high watermark at

which the last relative performance fee was paid is exceeded.

BENCHMARK
Although the Company has a benchmark this is neither a target nor

an ideal investment strategy; the purpose of the benchmark is to

set a reasonable return for shareholders above which the manager

will have a share of the extra performance he has delivered.

The Company was established with a performance fee benchmark

of the FTSE World Index (capital return). This was changed in May

2000 to a composite benchmark and the components of the

benchmark were reviewed in 2003 by the Board following the



closure of the Euro NM Index and the much reduced technology

exposure of JASDAQ. With effect from 1 May 2003 the benchmark

comprised a blend of worldwide technology indices; 50% NYSE Arca

Technology, 15% MS Eurotec, 7.5% FTSE Techmark, 7.5% Tecdax,

15% Tokyo SE Electronics and 5% DS Asia ex Japan Electronics. 

As part of the overall discussions on fees and performance the Board

looked again at the Benchmark and decided that with effect from 

1 May 2006 it should change to the Dow Jones World Technology

Index (Total return, Sterling adjusted). This single index as a

Benchmark will provide shareholders with a more readily available and

understandable measure. Although, this index has underperformed

the previous composite benchmark it has performed in line or ahead

of generally acceptable global technology indices. The index is also in

keeping with those used by the Company’s peer group.

BUSINESS RISKS 
In delivering long-term returns to shareholders the identification

and monitoring of risk is crucial. In addition to the detailed internal

controls set out in the Corporate Governance section the Board

seeks to identify, assess and monitor risks to the business. These

relate primarily to economic uncertainties and its particular sphere

of activity of investing in stock markets. 

• As the Company’s assets comprise mainly listed equities the

principal risks to the performance of the business are market

related. The principal risks are market price, credit, liquidity,

foreign currency and interest rates. The policies for managing

these risks are set out in note 17 to the accounts.

• While the portfolio is diversified across a number of stock

markets worldwide, the investment mandate is focused on

technology and thus it will be more sensitive to investor

sentiment and the commercial acceptance of technological

developments than a general investment portfolio. 

• Technology stocks also have greater relative price volatility

and are subject to the risks of developing technologies,

competitive pressures and other factors including the

acceptance of new technologies.

• Many companies in the technology sector are smaller

companies and are therefore subject to the risks attendant on

investing in smaller capitalisation businesses.

• There is significant exposure to the economic cycles of the

Europe, Asia and the US as these are the major investment

markets for technology stocks 
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• A small element of the investment portfolio is invested into

unlisted securities; at the year-end this amounted to 1%.

These investments are made where they offer specialist

management or investment opportunities which would

otherwise not be available. Any such investments are cleared

beforehand by the Directors.

KEY PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES 
The Directors appraise the performance of the Company and the

investment manager as the key supplier of services to the Company

against key performance indicators (“KPIs”). 

The objectives comprise both specific financial and shareholder

related measures. 

• The provision of investment return to shareholders as

measured by long-term NAV growth, and relative

outperformance of the benchmark and technology indices.

• Monitoring and reacting to issues created by the discount or

premium of the share price to the Net Asset Value per share

with the aim of reduced price volatility for shareholders.

• To qualify and meet the requirements for Section 842 of the

Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which has been

achieved in each year since launch.

MANAGEMENT OF THE PORTFOLIO
Full details of the manager’s activities and their views are given in

the Fund Managers’ Report section. The Board consider that the

Fund Manger’s Reports when read in conjunction with this Business

Review give a comprehensive analysis of the development and

performance of the business of the Company and the position of

the Company at the end of the financial year. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW
The introduction of International Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRS”) during the year has brought both changes in the presentation

of the financial information as well as numerous accounting changes.

These standards were applied at half year Interims. As reported at the

time of the Interims the Group Statement of Total Return has been

replaced by the Consolidated Income Statement. This statement

does not differentiate between income and capital but in line with

the guidance from the Association of Investment Trusts Companies

(“AITC”) we have shown a split as previously. There are also other

key changes under IFRS which affect investment companies, such

as the move to classify investments at “fair value through profit or



loss”. The holding of investments at fair value through profit or loss

requires them to be shown at bid or “selling” prices rather than at

mid-market prices as in the past. They are also described in the

balance sheet as Investments held at fair value under the heading

non-current assets rather than fixed assets as previously.

The effect of first time adoption of IFRS on the opening value of

the portfolio was £798,000 as set out in note 28 to the accounts. 

As permitted by paragraph 36A of IFRS 1 – First time adoption of

International Accounting Standards, the comparative information

presented in the primary financial statements has not been

restated to comply with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition

and Measurement, however the main adjustments that would be

required for the comparatives to comply are set out in note 28.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (INCLUDING WARRANTS)
The Company’s share capital is divided into ordinary shares of 25p

each and at the year-end there were 139,990,821 shares in issue

(2005: 115,320,162). 

During the year the Company made one purchase of 277,000

shares for cancellation with a nominal value of £69,250 and

representing 0.2% of the issued shares at the beginning of the

year. The total cost including stamp duty was £467,711. There was

also one purchase of 400,000 warrants for cancellation at a total

cost including stamp duty of £276,553.

The warrants issued by the Company at its launch in 1996 expired on

30 September 2005. On that date there were 2,365 warrant holders

holding 19,195,659 warrants. 1,104 warrant holders exercised their

rights over 17,149,226 warrants and purchased 17,149,226

ordinary shares at £1 each. The remaining 2,046,433 warrants were

exercised by the Law Debenture Trust Corporation plc as trustee under

the terms of the warrants and the shares arising were sold in the

market by UBS the Company’s broker. Warrant holders who did not

exercise their rights received 103.45p per warrant after expenses. 

In February 2006, 5,752,000 new ordinary shares were issued to

satisfy investor demand at 258.75p per share, which after expenses

of £74,000, represented a premium to NAV of 1.4%. This used up

almost all the authority granted by shareholders to the board at the

AGM in July 2005 and an EGM on 5 April 2006 was convened to

renew the powers. Authority was granted to allot for cash up to a

further 6,999,540 shares. This authority has not been used and the

board will seek to renew the authority at the AGM.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHARE INTERESTS
At 12 June 2006 notices have been received of the following

substantial interests in the issued ordinary share capital of the Company:

Prudential Corporation plc 4.39% 

HBOS plc 4.16% 

Legal & General Investment Management Ltd 3.13% 

The above percentages are calculated by applying the

shareholdings as notified to the Company to the issued ordinary

share capital as at 12 June 2006.

AUTHORITY TO MAKE MARKET PURCHASES
OF THE COMPANY’S OWN SHARES
The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Company to

purchase its own shares. At the AGM in July 2005 the Company was

authorised to make market purchases up to 17,244,970 of the

Company’s own issued shares for cancellation. The Directors are

seeking to renew the powers granted at the AGM to make market

purchases of the Company’s own shares for cancellation. 

The Directors believe that to make such purchases in the market at

appropriate times and prices is a suitable method of enhancing

shareholder value. The Company would, within guidelines set from

time to time by the Board, make either a single purchase or a series

of purchases, when market conditions are suitable, with the aim of

maximising the benefits to shareholders. Where purchases are

made at prices below the prevailing net asset value per share, this

will enhance the net asset value for the remaining shareholders. It

is therefore intended that purchases would only be made at prices

below net asset value. Your Board considers that it will be most

advantageous to shareholders for the Company to be able to make

such purchases as and when it considers the timing to be

favourable and therefore does not propose to set a timetable for

making any such purchases. 

The rules of the UK Listing Authority limit the price which may be

paid by the Company to 105% of the average middle-market

quotation for an ordinary share on the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of the relevant purchase. The minimum price to

be paid will be 25p per ordinary share (being the nominal value).

Also these rules limit a listed Company to purchases of shares

representing up to 15% of its issued ordinary share capital through

the market pursuant to a general authority such as this. For this

reason, the Company is limiting its authority to make such

purchases to 20,984,600 ordinary shares, representing
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approximately 14.99% of the issued ordinary share capital at the

date of this Annual Report. The authority will last until the AGM of

the Company to be held in 2007 or the whole of the 14.99% has

been utilised, whichever is earlier.

AUTHORITY TO ALLOT SHARES AND
DISAPPLICATION OF PRE-EMPTION RIGHTS
Authority was granted at the Annual General Meeting held in 2005

to allow the Directors to allot shares with a maximum aggregate

nominal amount of £1,438,039, representing 5,752,156 shares,

being 5 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital on the date

of the notice for the Annual General Meeting. Authority was also

granted to the Board to allot any such shares for cash without first

offering them to existing shareholders in accordance with statutory

pre-emption procedures.

Following the allotment on 6 February 2006 the Directors renewed

these authorities at an EGM held on 5 April 2006 so they could allot

up to a further 5 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital

and to allot any such shares for cash without first offering them to

existing shareholders. These powers have not been used and in

accordance with the resolutions will fall away at the conclusion of

the AGM. The Directors are therefore again seeking the authority to

allot ordinary shares for cash. At the forthcoming AGM, resolution 9

will be proposed as an ordinary resolution to authorise the Directors

to allot ordinary shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of

£1,749,885 (being 6,999,540 ordinary shares or 5% of the

Company’s issued ordinary share capital at the date of this report). 

In addition, resolution 12 will be proposed as a special resolution to

seek authority to allot ordinary shares for cash on a non preemptive

basis up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £1,749,885

(being 6,999,540 ordinary shares or 5% of the Company’s issued

ordinary share capital at the date of this report). The authorities to

allot shares will last until the AGM of the Company in 2007, or until

all shares have been allotted, whichever is the earlier.

The Board’s policy on the issue of new shares is for the net issue

price (after costs) to be above the NAV per share and the Board will

limit the overall issue of new shares to the total number of shares

previously purchased and cancelled up to the date of allotment.

Furthermore, the Board will only take the decision to allot new

shares if it can see worthwhile opportunities for investing new funds. 

The Directors consider that renewing the Company’s share

allotment authorities is advantageous as any shares issued for cash

will be at a price that will be NAV enhancing for existing

shareholders and should improve future liquidity. The Directors

further believe that having the ability to ensure a ready supply of

shares to the market should assist in avoiding the creation of an

excessive and unsustainable premium over NAV which may

increase the risks for new investors. 

ENVIRONMENT AND SRI
The Company has no employees and has contracted the service of

fund management, secretarial, safe custody of assets, marketing

and share registration to third parties.

The Company has a policy on SRI which is given in the Corporate

Governance Statement on page 31.

INVESTMENT IN OTHER INVESTMENT
COMPANIES
The Company’s investment policy limits investments to no more

than 15% of its gross assets in other UK listed investment

companies including listed investment trusts.

ASSETS
At 30 April 2006 the total net assets of the Group amounted to

£358,202,000 compared with £236,439,000 (adjusted to reflect

the impact of IFRS) at 30 April 2005. 

The net asset value per share rose by 34.8% from 189.8p to 255.9p.

REVENUE AND DIVIDENDS
The gross revenue return for the year was £3,321,000 (2005:

£3,294,000) and the net revenue loss after taxation amounted to

£1,462,000 (2005: £1,194,000). The total return for the year

amounted to a profit after tax of £88,502,000 (2005: Loss

£14,972,000). The Directors do not recommend the payment of 

a dividend.

CUSTODIAN
JPMorgan Chase NA acts as global custodian for all the Company’s

investments.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company and their biographies are shown on

page 17. The Directors’ Remuneration Report is set out on pages 25

and 26. 
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With the exceptions of Mr. Stutterheim, who resigned on 1 January

2006 and Professor Rhodes who resigned on 24 February 2006, all

the Directors held office throughout the year. 

At the forthcoming AGM all the Directors will retire and offer

themselves for re-election. Mr. Richard Wakeling and Mr. Peter Dicks

will stand for re-election in line with the Corporate Governance

Policies of the Company having served more than nine years. The

Board is of the opinion that long service does not necessarily

compromise the independence or contribution of Directors of

investment trusts where continuity and experience can significantly

benefit a Board. 

Mr. Brian Ashford-Russell stands for annual re-election as required

by the Listing Rules due to his association with the investment

manager. 

Mr. David Gamble stands for re-election in accordance with the

Articles of Association that require that a Director retire at the third

AGM after his last re-election. 

The Nomination Committee has rigorously assessed the

contribution of each Director standing for re-election and their

independence. All the Directors, with the exception of Mr. Ashford-

Russell, were considered independent of the investment manager

and had no relationship or conflicts which were likely to affect their

judgment. Mr. Ashford-Russell is a partner of Polar Capital LLP and a

shareholder in PCP Holdings Plc, the ultimate parent company of

the Polar Capital Group and as such he has an interest in the

management contract. The Board values the fact that Mr. Ashford-

Russell is a Director and believes that having him on the Board gives

shareholders access to his experience and knowledge and that as a

Director he has a greater duty to the Company than just being a

contracted fund manager.

The Nomination Committee has recommended to the Board that

it endorses each of the Directors standing for re-election.

There were no other contracts during or at the end of the year in

which a Director of the Company is or was materially interested and

which is or was significant in relation to the Company’s business. 

The interests of Directors in the  shares of the Company at 30 April

2006 and in the shares and warrants at 30 April 2005 are as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2006 23

Ordinary Shares Warrants 
Beneficial: 30.04.06 30.04.05 30.04.06 30.04.05 

RKA Wakeling 18,000 16,000 – 2,000 

BJD Ashford-Russell 250,000 183,540 – 100,124 

PF Dicks 30,000 25,000 – 5,000 

DJ Gamble 5,902 5,902 – – 

Non-beneficial: 

PF Dicks 1,057 1,057 – –

The outstanding warrants were exercised and converted into ordinary

shares on 30 September 2005. There have been no changes in these

interests between the end of the financial year and 12 June 2006. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A formal statement on corporate governance is set out on pages 27

to 31.

THE PAYMENT OF CREDITORS
It has been and will remain the Company’s policy for the

forthcoming financial year to obtain the best terms for all business

and therefore there is no single policy as to the terms used. In

general the Company agrees with its suppliers the terms on which

business will take place and it is the Company’s policy to abide by

such terms. There were no trade creditors at 30 April 2006.

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have expressed their willingness to

continue in office as the Company’s Registered Auditors. A

resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors to

the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. 

The fees paid to the Auditors in respect of the Audit work amounted

to £33,000. The Company also uses PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to

give advice on Section 842, VAT and other taxation issues. This

advice is provided by the Newcastle office while the Audit work is

carried out by the Edinburgh and London offices. The fees paid for

non audit work amounted to £22,000. 

As far as the Directors are aware there is no relevant audit

information of which the Auditors are unaware and the Directors

have taken steps to make themselves aware of any relevant Audit

information and to establish that the Auditors are aware of such

information.
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NEW ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
New Articles of Association have been prepared to address

comments received from shareholders that they would prefer a

simpler mechanism for the continuation vote rather than the two

stage arrangements which currently apply. The proposed new

Articles contain a revised Article 141 which provides that in 2010

and every five years thereafter shareholders will be able to vote on

an ordinary resolution for the continuation of the Company. 

There are other proposed updating or clarificatory changes to the

Articles which can be summarised as follows:

Directors’ fees (Article 82(1))

As the Articles are updated infrequently, the opportunity has also

been taken to increase the overall limit that may be paid to

Directors as fees from £150,000 to £200,000. The current limit was

set in 2002, when the Articles were last updated and the current fee

arrangements for the Directors are set out in the Directors

Remuneration Report on page 26. The increase in the overall ceiling

that may be paid to all the Directors is subject to its own resolution.

Other changes to Articles affecting the Directors (Articles 92 to 98;

101 & 105)

The amendments to Articles 92 to 98 would simplify the retirement

by rotation provisions, specifying that Directors retire by rotation if

they were in place but had not retired at either of the two previous

general meetings. The change to Article 101 would clarify the

process where a director is requested to vacate his office by the

other Directors and Article 105 would be changed to clarify the

scope of the benefits that can be provided and make it clear that

such benefits can be provided to both current and former directors.

Directors indemnities (Articles 143 & 112)

The amendment to Article 143 would bring the position on Directors

indemnities in line with the position under the Companies Act 1985

following the Companies (Audit, Investigations and Community

Enterprise) Act 2005, and the change to Article 112 would allow the

Directors to vote on the grant of an indemnity by the Company to

benefit them all.

Treasury shares (Articles 47, 42 and 89)

There are currently no specific provisions in the Articles to deal with

the holding by the Company of shares in treasury which is

permitted following the amendments to the Companies Act 1985

introduced by the Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury

Shares) Regulations 2003. The principal proposed changes are to

Article 47 (to allow the holding of such shares), Article 42

(Disclosure of Interests) and Article 89 (in relation to borrowing

limits). There are a number of consequential changes that occur as

a result in Articles 12, 13, 42, 59, 79, 89 and 127.

Proceedings at General Meetings (Articles 55A, 55B, 56A, 56B,

A57, 57A, 58 and 76)

A number of new Articles are proposed to assist with the orderly

running of General Meetings, to allow better security, adjournment

of meetings if space or facilities prove inadequate and meetings

held in more than one place to be treated as one meeting. 

Changes due to CREST (Articles 32 & 123) 

This amendment would deal with the fact that it is CREST and not

the Company that registers a transfer of uncertificated shares and

would clarify that position in relation to CREST dividends.

Changes due to International Financial Reporting Standards

The amendments would include clarifying the amounts to be taken

into account when calculating borrowing limits. References to an

income statement of the Company/Group are included as a result

of the move to IFRS. 

Changes due to the Listing Rules (Article 42 & 45)

The changes would bring Article 42 in line with listing rule 9.3.9

(shareholders rights) and Article 45 in line with Listing Rule

9.5.13(retention of proceeds of sale of fractions of shares).

Minor changes (Articles 14, 42(3), 43 and new 139A)

There are some additional minor proposed amendments which are

intended to clarify the wording of certain articles without modifying

their substance and new Article 139A updates the Articles in

respect of electronic documentation. 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting will be held on Friday 21 July 2006 at

12.30pm at the offices of UBS Investment Bank. A map is given on

page 62. 

The business for the AGM is set out in the Notice of Meeting is set

out on page 60. 

There will be a presentation from the fund manager and the

opportunity for shareholders to meet the Directors.

By order of the Board

N P Taylor FCIS

Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited

Secretary

13 June 2006
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INTRODUCTION 
This report has been prepared and is submitted in accordance with

the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 in respect of

the year ended 30 April 2006. It has been audited where indicated

as such. An ordinary resolution to approve the report will be put to

the AGM on 21 July 2006. 

CONSIDERATION OF MATTERS RELATING TO
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
On 1 May 2004 a Remuneration Committee was established under

the chairmanship of Mr Peter Dicks as the Senior Independent

Director and Mr Cor Stutterheim and Professor Rhodes were elected

to serve on the Committee. Following the resignation of 

Mr Stutterheim on 1 January 2006 and Professor Rhodes on 

24 February 2006, the powers of the Committee have reverted to

the Board until new members are appointed.

In the year under review the Directors’ fees were paid at the

following annual rates, the Chairman £27,000 (2005: £27,000);

other independent Directors £18,000 (2005: £18,000). 

The Board met on 28 April 2006 to consider the level of Directors’

fees and having taken account of the current fee level, the principles

of the remuneration policy, a survey by Principal Search on the

Remuneration of Boards of UK Investment Trust Companies in

2005 and that the last fee increase was in 2004, decided that the

fees paid to the Chairman should increase from £27,000 to

£30,000 and the fees to other Directors should increase from

£18,000 to £20,000. 

It is the policy to increase fees, if appropriate, every other year. 

STATEMENT OF THE COMPANY’S POLICY ON
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
The Board consists entirely of non-executive Directors, who meet

regularly throughout the year to deal with the Company’s affairs. 

The Company’s current Articles of Association limit the total fees

payable to all the Directors to £150,000 per annum. 

The Board has recommended as part of the review of the Articles of

Association that this overall limit across all fees be increased to

£200,000. This increase is being made at this time as it is

opportune to incorporate it with other changes.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

The principles of the Company’s remuneration policy has been and

will continue to be for the forthcoming financial year that fees

payable to Directors should: 

• reflect the time spent by them individually and collectively as

part of the Board on the Company’s affairs 

• be of a level appropriate to the responsibilities borne by the

Directors 

• be in line with market practice and sufficient to enable

candidates of high calibre to be recruited and retained. 

The policy also recognises: 

• that the form of remuneration be in cash, payable monthly in

arrears, to the Director personally or to a third party specified

by him 

• the rates are reviewed annually; such review will not

necessarily result in any change to the rates. 

As the Company is an investment trust and all the Directors are

non-executive, it is considered inappropriate to have any long term

incentive schemes and the fees are not specifically related to the

Directors’ performance, either individually or collectively. 

PERFORMANCE 
A five year performance comparison is required to be presented in

this report. The Dow Jones World Technology Index has been

shown because as a market capitalisation weighted index based on

the entire global technology sector, it is the most appropriate single

market index.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS 
None of the Directors has a contract of service or a contract for

services and a Director may resign by giving one month’s notice in

writing to the Board at any time. In accordance with recommended

practice each Director has received a letter setting out the terms of

his appointment. 

New Directors are appointed and re-elected with the expectation

that they will serve for a period of at least three years. Each

Director’s appointment is reviewed formally each time a Director

retires by rotation under the Articles of Association or stands for re-

election under the Corporate Governance Code adopted by the

Company. The Articles require a Director to retire at every third

AGM after the first AGM at which he is appointed by shareholders. 

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by the

Company in respect of the Directors. The Companies (Audit,

Investigations and Community Enterprise) Act 2004 came into force

in April 2005 and changed the provisions of section 310 of the

Companies Act 1985 to give companies the power to extend

indemnities to Directors against liability to third parties (excluding

criminal and regulatory penalties) and to pay directors’ legal costs

up-front provided they are reimbursed to the Company if the

individual is convicted or, in an action brought by the Company

judgment is given against him. On 26 February 2004, the Company

entered into deeds of indemnity with the Directors of the Company.

A copy of each deed is available on the Company’s website. 

REMUNERATION (AUDITED) 
The fees payable in respect of each of the Directors who served

during the year, and during 2005, were as follows: 

Year ended Year ended 
30 April 2006 30 April 2005 

£ £ 

R Wakeling 27,000 27,000 

B Ashford-Russell – –

P Dicks 18,000 18,000 

D Gamble 18,000 18,000 

D Rhodes* 15,000 18,000 

C Stutterheim** 12,000 18,000 

TOTAL 90,000 99,000 

* resigned 24 February 2006

** resigned 1 January 2006

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
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No pension contributions or other remuneration or compensation

was paid or payable by the Company during the year to any of the

current or former Directors. 

The Directors’ emoluments stated above were those actually paid

by the Company. However, by reason of the Companies Act 1985

and the regulations referred to above, it is necessary to state the

amount which Mr Ashford-Russell received from the investment

manager and which related to the management of the Company,

even though the Company did not pay these emoluments to him

and was not involved in their determination. 

The Company has been informed that the emoluments paid by

Polar Capital to Mr Ashford-Russell for services to the Company

during the year were: 

Year ended Year ended 
30 April 2006 30 April 2005 

£ £ 

Salary & other benefits 48,771 75,058 

Pension 5,729 7,500 

TOTAL 54,500 82,558 

The pension contribution was paid by Polar Capital on behalf of Mr

Ashford-Russell to a money purchase arrangement. 

Approved by the Board on 13 June 2006 

By order of the Board 

N P Taylor FCIS 

Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited 

Secretary



BACKGROUND AND DEVELOPMENT
The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to disclose how

they have applied the principles and complied with the provisions

of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the “Combined

Code”) issued by the Financial Reporting Council in July 2003.

Since the Board published their last report in June 2005 the

corporate governance framework for listed companies and

investment trusts in particular has continued to evolve and this has

led to the publication in February 2006 of a revised and updated

version of the AITC Code on Corporate Governance (“AITC Code”).

The Financial Reporting Council, which is the body responsible for

the Combined Code, have confirmed that AITC Member companies

which report against the AITC Code would be meeting their

obligations in relation to the Combined Code and associated

disclosure required by the Listing Rules.

Although the AITC Code has not been the accepted standard

throughout the entire year under review the Board considers that,

as its principles and recommendations have equivalence to the

Combined Code, to report against a single standard will allow

greater clarity and provide a report which focuses on those areas of

relevance to investment companies and their shareholders.

APPLICATION OF THE AITC CODE’S PRINCIPLES
The Board attaches great importance to the matters contained in

the AITC Code and observed the relevant requirements throughout

the year under review. The Board believes that the Company’s

current practices are consistent in all material respects with the

principles of the AITC Code and where noncompliance occurs, an

explanation will be provided. The Board will continue to observe the

principles and recommendations set out in the AITC Code in future. 

It should be noted that, as an investment trust where the Directors

are non-executive most of the Company’s day to day duties are

delegated to third parties. The Company has agreed certain policies

and operating procedures with the suppliers of these services. 

BOARD COMPOSITION AND INDEPENDENCE
The Board is responsible to shareholders for the overall management

of the Company’s affairs and currently consists of four non-executive

Directors. During the year two Directors, Professor Rhodes and 

Mr. Stutterheim resigned as Directors due to increased pressure of

duties at their principle employer. The Board would like to thank both of

them for their contributions and commitment over the years. The Board,

Corporate Governance
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through the Nomination Committee, is therefore considering the

appointment of one or more new directors. The Nomination Committee

has discussed the personal qualities and areas of experience they

believe would benefit the Board and a firm of specialist recruitment

consultants has been instructed. Overall, despite two Directors having

served more than nine years, the Board considers itself independent as

three of its Directors are independent of the investment manager.

The Board is conscious of the need to maintain continuity in the

Board, and believes that retaining Directors with sufficient

experience of the Company, industry and the markets is of great

benefit to shareholders. The Board also recognises the value of

progressive refreshing of and succession planning for company

boards. Accordingly the appointment of each Director retiring at

the forthcoming AGM has been reviewed by the Nomination

Committee prior to submission for re- election.

The policy for Directors serving over nine years is for annual re-

election, two of the Directors standing for re-election at the AGM,

Mr. Wakeling and Mr. Dicks have each served for more than 9 years.

The Nomination Committee carefully reviewed the independence

and contributions of both Directors and determined that they

continued to offer relevant experience, effectively contributed to

the operation of the Board and had demonstrated independent

views on a range of subjects. They therefore recommended to the

Board that it supported their re-election. The other Directors

standing for re-election at the AGM are Mr. Gamble and Mr.

Ashford-Russell as required under the Articles of Association of the

Company and the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee also

recommended that the Board support their re-election. 

No Director, except Mr. Ashford-Russell, has any links with the

investment manager, Polar Capital LLP. Mr. Ashford-Russell is a

partner of Polar Capital LLP and is therefore not an independent

Director. However, the Board values the fact that Mr. Ashford-

Russell serves as a Director of the Company and is committed to

achieving the best returns for shareholders. 

The Chairman of the Company is a non-executive Director and has

no conflicting relationships. 

Each Director has different qualities and areas of expertise on

which they may lead where issues arise. The Directors’ biographies,

on page 17, demonstrate the breadth of investment, commercial

and professional experience relevant to their positions as Directors

on the Board of the Company.



The Board has put in place policies to govern situations where a

potential conflict of interests may arise, in particular where a

Director is also a director of a company in which the Company

invests or may invest. These Directors are excluded from any

discussions or decisions relating to investments in their respective

companies. This exclusion applied to Professor Rhodes and 

Mr. Stutterheim during their term of office in respect of Filtronic PLC

and LogicaCMG PLC.

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Six scheduled Board meetings are held each year to deal with the

stewardship of the Company and other matters including the

setting and monitoring of investment strategy and performance,

review of financial statements, approval of borrowing limits within

which the manager has discretion to act, and shareholder issues

including investor relations. The level of share price discount or

premium to net asset value together with policies for re-purchase or

issuance of new shares including the use of Treasury shares are kept

under review along with matters affecting the industry and the

evaluation of third party service providers.

Additional meetings of the Board may be arranged as required. A

formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for decision by the full

Board has been defined. The Board has delegated to a number of

committees specific remits for consideration and recommendations

but the final responsibility remains with the Board.

A procedure has been adopted for Directors, in the furtherance of

their duties, to take independent professional advice at the expense

of the Company.

The number of formal meetings of the Board and its Committees

held during the financial year and the attendance of individual

Directors are shown below.

1 May 2005 to 30 April 2006 Ad hoc committees
Management for allotment

Board Audit Engagement of shares Nomination

No. of Meetings 8 3 5 2 3

R Wakeling 8 3 5 1 3

B Ashford-Russell 8 3* 4* 1 3*

P Dicks 8 3 5 n/a 3

D Gamble 8 3 5 n/a 3

D Rhodes 2 out of 6 1 out of 2 2 out of 3 n/a 1 out of 1

C Stutterheim 4 out of 6 1 out of 2 0 out of 3 n/a 1 out of 1
* Not a member but attended part of the meetings by invitation. 
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All Directors attended the 2005 AGM, held on 22 July 2005 and 

Mr. Wakeling attended the EGM on 5 April 2006. 

Professor Rhodes and Mr. Stutterheim attended Board and

Committee meetings up to the date they stood down. The

Remuneration Committee has not met and since the departure of

Professor Rhodes and Mr. Stutterheim its powers have reverted to

the full Board until new members are appointed.

The Board has contractually delegated the management of the

portfolio to the investment manager, Polar Capital LLP (the

“Manager”). It is the Manager’s sole responsibility to take decisions

as to the purchase and sale of individual investments other than

unquoted investments where the board is consulted. The Manager

has responsibility for gearing, asset allocation and sector selection

within the limits established and regularly reviewed by the Board.

The Board has directly appointed the custodian and the share

registrars, both of which the Manager monitors and the Manager

provides or procures the provision of accountancy services,

company secretarial and administrative services and the share

savings scheme arrangements. The Manager also ensures that all

Directors receive in a timely manner all relevant management,

regulatory and financial information. Representatives of the

Manager attend each Board meeting enabling the Directors to

probe further on matters of concern or seek clarification on certain

issues. The Directors have access to the advice and services of the

corporate company secretary through its appointed representative

who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures

are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied

with. The Board and Manager operate in a supportive, co-operative

and open environment.

SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
The Board elected Mr Peter Dicks to act as the Senior Independent

Director in May 2004.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has created four standing committees whose terms are

described below. The Board also creates ad hoc committees from

time to time to enact or approve policies or actions agreed in

principle by the whole Board. Copies of the terms of reference for

each of the standing committees are available on request and can

be viewed on the Company’s website.



AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee meets three times a year. The Committee

comprises of all the independent non-executive Directors. The Board

previously carefully considered the composition of the Audit

Committee in light of the Smith Report recommendations and

concluded that due to his experience Mr. Wakeling, despite being

Chairman of the Board, should remain as the Committee’s chairman.

Mr. Wakeling has previously served as a finance director of two public

companies and in the opinion of the Board has the most relevant

experience to act as Chairman of the Audit Committee. As a non-

executive Director Mr. Wakeling is not involved in the preparation of the

accounts of the Company, as this has been contracted to the Manager. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the scope of the

annual audit, the annual accounts and the interim report, the terms of

appointment of the Auditors and their remuneration as well as any non-

audit services provided by the Auditors. It meets with representatives of

the Manager and receives reports on the quality and effectiveness of

the accounting records and management information maintained on

behalf of the Company. The Committee also considers the internal

controls and risk management systems applicable to the Company.

The Audit Committee has direct access to the Auditors and to the

key senior staff of the Manager and it reports its findings and

recommendations to the Board which retains the ultimate

responsibility for the financial statements of the Company. The

Audit Committee meets with the Auditors each April to review the

scope of the annual audit work and meets again each June to

review the findings of the Auditors and the annual report and

accounts prior to approval by the Board. The Committee also

meets, without the Auditors present, in December to consider the

interim report. The effectiveness of the Auditors and the nature of

the services provided have therefore been assessed through-out the

year and the provision of non-audit services provided by the Auditors

have been kept under review. These non-audit services comprised

the provision of specialist tax advice on Section 842 issues and VAT

recovery which was provided by a separate office of the Audit firm.

Details of fees paid to the Auditors are given in note 7 on page 43.

MANAGEMENT ENGAGEMENT COMMITTEE
The Management Engagement Committee meets at least annually

and at such other times as may be necessary. All independent non

executive Directors are members of the Management Engagement

Committee which is chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The

Committee is responsible for the review of the terms of the
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management contract which is reviewed annually and the Committee

also considers, prior to making its recommendation to the Board, the

retention of the Manager as being in the interests of shareholders. 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination Committee comprises of all the independent non-

executive Directors and is chaired by the Chairman of the Board.

The Committee meets at least annually and is responsible to the

Board for the size and structure of the Board as well as succession

planning and tenure policy for Directors. Succession planning will be

conducted bearing in mind the balance of skills, knowledge and

experience existing on the Board and the balance of ages and the

Committee will make recommendations to the Board when the

further recruitment of non-executive Directors is required.

Once a decision has been made that additional directors are to be

recruited then candidates will be drawn from suggestions put forward

by the other Directors and by the use of external agencies. The final

selection will be made by the Board following recommendations by

the Committee. It also will review the performance of the Board as

a whole and each individual Director. Re-appointment as a Director

is not automatic and will follow a process of evaluation of each

Director’s performance. The Board acknowledges the rationale of

the Combined Code for the particularly rigorous review of Directors

serving over six years and annual re- election after nine years.

Nevertheless the Board shares the view of the AITC that length of

service will not necessarily compromise the independence or

contribution of Directors of investment trusts where continuity and

experience can significantly strengthen a board. 

All Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years, subject

to re-appointment and Companies Act provisions and in

accordance with the existing Articles of Association, will stand for

election at the first AGM following their appointment and will retire

at every third AGM after their last election. The Directors who are

subject to annual re- election due to length of service would be

subject to particularly rigorous assessment of their contribution.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
A Remuneration Committee was created in May 2004. Mr Peter

Dicks, the Senior Independent Director was elected chairman and

Mr. Stutterheim and Professor Rhodes were elected Committee

members. Following the resignations of both Professor Rhodes and

Mr. Stutterheim, the Committee’s powers have returned to the

Board until new members have been appointed. 



The Committee would normally meet at least annually and is

responsible for recommending the framework for the remuneration

of Directors. The Committee reviews the ongoing appropriateness of

the remuneration policy and the individual remuneration of

Directors based on their contributions. The fees paid to Directors are

detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 26.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING
When a new Director is appointed he or she is offered an induction

course provided by the Manager. Directors are also provided on a

regular basis with key information on the Company’s policies, regulatory

and statutory requirement and internal controls. Changes affecting

Directors’ responsibilities are advised to the Board as they arise.

Directors also regularly participate in professional and industry seminars.

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
THE BOARD
The evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual Directors

is carried out annually by the Chairman of the Nomination

Committee and the Board meets without the Chairman present in

order to review the performance of the Chairman. The process is

constructed to assess the contribution of individual Directors to the

overall operation of the Board and its committees. 

The process in 2005 involved the Chairman speaking to each

director and reporting to the Nomination Committee his findings

and views. Directors are assessed on their relevant experience, their

strengths and weaknesses in relation to the overall requirements of

the Board and their commitment to the Company in terms of time

by regular attendance of Board meetings.

The Nomination Committee considered the Chairman’s views and

concluded that each director standing for re-election should

continue but the board required to be strengthened following the

loss of two Directors.

THE INVESTMENT MANAGER
The Board reviews the performance of the Manager at each Board

meeting and the Company’s performance against a peer group of

investment companies and funds with similar investment

objectives. The investment team provided by the Manager, led by

Mr. Ashford-Russell, has long experience of investment in

technology. In addition the Manager has other investment

resources which support the investment team and experience in

managing and administering investment trust companies. 
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The Management Engagement Committee regularly reviews the

terms of the contract with the Manager and following the passing

of the continuation vote at the AGM in 2005 the Committee has

been reviewing the fee structure including the arrangements for

calculating performance fee payments. Details of the fee structure

is given in the Directors’ Report on page 19.

The Board also monitors through the Manager the performance of

its other service providers including the custodian and share registrar.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the

Accounts is set out on page 32 and the Independent Auditors’

Report is on page 33. 

GOING CONCERN
The Directors believe that the Company has adequate resources to

continue in existence for the foreseeable future. For these reasons

the Directors consider it appropriate to prepare accounts on a

going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board has overall responsibilities for the Company’s system of

internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. It has

established a process for identifying, evaluating and managing any

major risks faced by the Company. The process is subject to regular

review by the Board and accords with the Turnbull guidance. The

process was fully in place during the year and up to the date of

approval of this annual report. However, such a system is designed

to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve the

Company’s business objectives and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Manager has established an internal control framework to

provide reasonable but not absolute assurance on the effectiveness

of the internal controls operated on behalf of its clients.

The Board, assisted by the Manager, undertakes an annual review of

the Company’s system of internal control. The business risks have

been analysed and recorded in a risk map which is reviewed regularly.

Each quarter the Board receives a formal report from the Manager

which details the steps taken to monitor the areas of risk, including

those that are not directly the responsibility of the Manager and

which reports the details of any known internal control failures. The

Board receives each year from the Manager a report on its internal



controls which includes a report from the Manager’s auditors on

the control policies and procedures in operation. Steps will continue

to be taken to embed the system of internal control and risk

management into the operation and culture of the Company and

its key suppliers.

The Company does not have an internal audit function; it delegates

to third parties most of its operation and does not employ any staff.

The Board will continue to monitor its system of internal control in

order to provide assurance that it operates as intended and from

time to time the Directors will review if a function equivalent to

internal audit is needed. Each of these contracts was entered into

after full and proper consideration by the Board of the quality and

cost of the services offered, including the control systems in

operation in so far as they relate to the affairs of the Company.

The Board also receives and considers ad hoc reports from the

Manager and information is supplied to the Board as required.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board is keen that the AGM be a participative event which

shareholders are encouraged to attend. The Chairman of the Board

and the Committees attend the AGM and are available to respond

to queries and concerns from shareholders. The Manager makes a

presentation to shareholders and answers questions on investment

performance.

The Company has made arrangements for a share savings scheme,

ISA and transfer PEP to be available to investors and for these

shareholders to receive all Company communications and the

ability to direct the casting of their votes. The Company has also

made arrangements with its registrar for shareholders, who own

their shares direct rather than through a nominee or share scheme,

to view their account over the Internet at www.shareview.co.uk and

other services are also provided via this service.

The Company publishes an annual report and financial statements

as well as an interim report. These are posted to all shareholders.

These are also made available on the Company’s website

(www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk) where monthly factsheets

are published by the Manager.

The Company has adopted a nominee shareholder code which is

set out on page 58 and proxy votes received are relayed to the

meeting. Twenty working days’ notice of the AGM has been given

to shareholders as required. The Notice of Meeting sets out the

business of the AGM and the special resolutions are explained more

fully in the Report of the Directors. Separate resolutions are

proposed to each substantive issue.

The Board monitors the share register of the Company, it also

receives correspondence from shareholders at each meeting and

maintains regular contact with major shareholders. Shareholders

who wish to raise matters direct with a Director may do so by

writing to them via the registered office of the Company.

SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE INVESTING AND
EXERCISE OF VOTING POWERS
The Board has instructed the Manager to take into account the

published corporate governance policy and the environment

practices and policies of the companies in which they invest on

behalf of the Company. The Company has also considered the

Manager’s policy on voting. The policy is for the Manager to vote at

all general meetings of UK companies in favour of resolutions

proposed by the management where it believes that the proposals

are in the interests of shareholders. The Manager uses Institutional

Shareholder Services as its agent for voting. However in exceptional

cases where it believes that a resolution could be detrimental to the

interests of shareholders or the financial performance of the

Company, appropriate notification will be given and abstentions or

a vote against will be lodged. The Board believes that their practices

accord with current best practice whilst maintaining a primary focus

on financial returns.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The Board, assisted by the Manager has conducted an annual

review of the risk map and the effectiveness of the system of

internal controls taking into account any significant issue which

arose during the course of the year ended 30 April 2006 and up to

the date of this report.

The Directors considered that the Company has complied

throughout the year ended 30 April 2006 with all the relevant

principles and recommendations set out in the AITC Code. By

reporting against the AITC Code the Company has met its

obligations under the Combined Code and paragraph 9.8.6 of

the Listing Rules.
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Company law requires the Directors to prepare accounts for each

financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs

of the Company and the Group and the net revenue/losses of the

Company and the Group for that period. In preparing those

accounts, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them

consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and

prudent; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and

explained in the accounts; and 

• prepare the accounts on the going concern basis, unless it is

inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in

business. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting

records are kept which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the Company and enable them to

ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act 1985.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the

Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
in respect of the accounts
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We have audited the group and parent
company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) of Polar Capital Technology
Trust plc for the year ended 30 April 2006
which comprise the Consolidated Income
Statement, the Consolidated and Company
Statements of Changes in Equity, the
Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets,
the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow
Statements and the related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein.
We have also audited the information in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is
described as having been audited.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES
OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. The
Directors are also responsible for preparing
the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
This report, including the opinion, has been
prepared for and only for the company’s
members as a body in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and
for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person
to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether
the financial statements give a true and fair
view and whether the financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
We report to you, in our opinion, whether the
information given in the Directors’ Report is

Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the members of Polar Capital Technology Trust

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2006 33

consistent with the financial statements. 
We also report to you if, in our opinion the
company has not kept proper accounting
records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for
our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate
Governance Statement reflects the
company’s compliance with the nine
provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules
of the Financial Services Authority, and we
report if it does not. We are not required to
consider whether the board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or
form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
group’s corporate governance procedures or
its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the
Annual Report and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited financial
statements. The other information comprises
only those items listed on the contents page
including the Chairman’s Report, the Fund
Manager’s Report, the Business Review and
Directors’ Report, the unaudited part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report, and Corporate
Governance Statement. We consider the
implications for our report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not
extend to any other information.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited. It also includes an assessment of
the significant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparation of
the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the
group’s and company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to
obtain all the information and explanations
which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the
financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

OPINION 
In our opinion:
• the group financial statements give a

true and fair view, in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the group’s affairs as at
30 April 2006 and of its profit and cash
flows for the year then ended;

• the parent company financial statements
give a true and fair view, in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of
the state of the parent company’s affairs
as at 30 April 2006 and cash flows for
the year then ended;

• the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’
Report is consistent with the financial
statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and 
Registered Auditors
London
13 June 2006

Notes:
(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Polar Capital

Technology Trust plc website is the responsibility of the
directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not
involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly,
the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes
that may have occurred to the financial statements
since they were initially presented on the website.

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.



Year ended 30 April 2006 Year ended 30 April 2005
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total 

return return return return return return 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

3 Investment income 2,629 – 2,629 2,573 – 2,573
4 Other operating income 692 – 692 721 – 721
5 Gain/(losses) on investments held at fair value – 89,964 89,964 – (13,778) (13,778)

Total income 3,321 89,964 93,285 3,294 (13,778) (10,484) 

Expenses
6 Investment management fee (3,465) – (3,465) (3,224) – (3,224)
7 Other administrative expenses (671) – (671) (609) – (609) 

Profit/(loss) before finance costs and tax (815) 89,964 89,149 (539) (13,778) (14,317)

8 Finance costs (454) – (454) (501) – (501)

Profit/(loss) before tax (1,269) 89,964 88,695 (1,040) (13,778) (14,818)

9 Tax (193) – (193) (154) – (154)

Net profit /(loss) for the year (1,462) 89,964 88,502 (1,194) (13,778) (14,972)

10 Earnings per ordinary share (pence)

Basic 69.58p (11.42p)

Diluted 67.17p (11.42p)

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Income Statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The revenue return and

capital return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment Trust

Companies. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

All income is attributable to the equity holders of Polar Capital Technology Trust Plc. There are no minority interests.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 April 2006
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Ordinary Capital Warrant
share redemption Share Warrant exercise Retained

capital reserve premium reserve reserve earnings Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group and Company

Total equity at 30 April 2004 as previously reported 36,832 713 88,842 7,147 940 172,162 306,636

Loss for the year to 30 April 2005 – – – – – (14,972) (14,972)

Exercise of warrants for ordinary shares 430 – 1,292 (543) 543 – 1,722

Repurchase of warrants – – – (425) – (438) (863)

Shares bought back for cancellation (8,432) 8,432 – – – (55,286) (55,286)

Total equity at 30 April 2005 as previously reported 28,830 9,145 90,134 6,179 1,483 101,466 237,237

Adjustment to revalue portfolio to bid at 30 April 2005 – – – – – (798) (798)

Opening balance at 1 May 2005 to comply with IFRS 28,830 9,145 90,134 6,179 1,483 100,668 236,439

Profit for the year to 30 April 2006 – – – – – 88,502 88,502

Exercise of warrants for ordinary shares 4,799 – 14,397 (6,053) 6,053 – 19,196

Repurchase of warrants – – – (126) – (150) (276)

Shares bought back for cancellation (69) 69 – – – (468) (468)

Issue of ordinary share capital 1,438 – 13,371 – – – 14,809

Total equity at 30 April 2006 34,998 9,214 117,902 – 7,536 188,552 358,202

CONSOLIDATED and company statements 
of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 April 2006
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30 April 2006 30 April 2005
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non current assets
11-13 Investments held at fair value 362,701 363,113 220,341 222,128

Current assets
14 Other receivables 4,350 7,500 29,408 32,464

Cash and cash equivalents 42,050 38,488 58,222 53,379

46,400 45,988 87,630 85,843

Total assets 409,101 409,101 307,971 307,971 

Current liabilities
15 Other payables (7,493) (7,493) (26,468) (26,468)
16 Bank loans (19,318) (19,318) (13,774) (13,774)

(26,811) (26,811) (40,242) (40,242)

Total assets less current liabilities 382,290 382,290 267,729 267,729 

Non current liabilities 
16 Bank loans (24,088) (24,088) (30,492) (30,492)

Net assets 358,202 358,202 237,237 237,237 

Equity attributable to equity shareholders
18 Ordinary share capital 34,998 34,998 28,830 28,830
19 Capital redemption reserve 9,214 9,214 9,145 9,145
20 Share premium 117,902 117,902 90,134 90,134
21 Warrant reserve – – 6,179 6,179
22 Warrant exercise reserve 7,536 7,536 1,483 1,483
23 Retained earnings 188,552 188,552 101,466 101,466

Total equity 358,202 358,202 237,237 237,237 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 June 2006.

R K A Wakeling

D J D Ashford-Russell

The notes on pages 38 to 55 form part of these financial statements

Consolidated and company balance sheets
at 30 April 2006
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Consolidated and company Cash Flow
Statements 
for the year ended 30 April 2006
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2006 2005
Group Company Group Company
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before finance costs and tax 89,149 89,149 (14,317) (14,317)

Adjustments for : 

(Increase)/decrease in investments (143,941) (142,567) 53,220 53,044

Decrease in receivables 25,072 24,978 5,147 5,061

(Decrease) in payables (17,742) (17,742) (4,782) (4,782)

(136,611) (135,331) 53,585 53,323

Net cash from operating activities before tax (47,462) (46,182) 39,268 39,006

Taxation paid (207) (207) (140) (140)

Net cash from operating activities (47,669) (46,389) 39,128 38,866

Cash flows from financing activities

Exercise of warrants 19,196 19,196 1,722 1,722 

Repurchase of warrants (405) (405) (734) (734)

Cost of shares repurchased (1,574) ( 1,574) (55,269) (55,269)

Issue of share capital 14,809 14,809 – –

Loans taken out (25,102) (25,102) (10,396) (10,396)

Loans matured 24,399 24,399 10,396 10,396 

Finance costs (452) (452) (506) (506)

Net cash from financing activities 30,871 30,871 (54,787) ( 54,787)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (16,798) (15,518) (15,659) (15,921)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 58,222 53,379 74,254 69,673 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 626 627 (373) (373)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 42,050 38,488 58,222 53,379 

The notes on pages 38 to 55 form part of these financial statements



1 General Information

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),

which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and International

Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), as adopted by the European Union.

The Group’s functional currency and the currency used for presentation of these financial statements is pounds sterling because that

is the currency which is most relevant to the majority of the Company’s shareholders and creditors and the currency in which the

majority of the Group’s operating expenses are paid.

These are the Group’s first audited annual results prepared in accordance with IFRS. Previous financial statements were prepared in

accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP) including the Statement of Recommended Practice (“the

SORP”) “Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies” issued by the Association of Investment Trust Companies (“the AITC”)

in January 2003 (revised December 2005).

The date of transition for the Group is 1 May 2004. The Group is required to determine its IFRS accounting policies and apply them

retrospectively to establish its opening balance sheet under IFRS, except as noted below. 

In preparing these financial statements certain accounting and valuation methods previously applied in UK GAAP financial

statements have been amended to comply with IFRS as follows:

Under IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, the Company has designated its investments as held at fair

value through profit or loss resulting in a move from a mid-market price to a bid price basis and hence a change in the value of the

investment portfolio.

As per the Company’s investment portfolio, the trading stock of PCT Finance Limited has also been reclassified as held at fair value

through profit or loss.

These amendments represent a change in accounting policy.

As permitted by paragraph 36A of IFRS1 – First-time adoption of International Accounting Standards the comparative information

has not been restated to comply with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, however the main adjustments

that would be required for the comparatives to comply are set out in note 28.

The principal accounting policies followed are set out below:

2 Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, as

modified by the inclusion of investments at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. Where

presentational guidance, set out in the SORP is consistent with the requirements of IFRS, the Directors have sought to prepare

the financial statements on a basis compliant with the recommendations of the SORP.

(b) Basis of Consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

(its wholly owned subsidiary undertaking, PCT Finance Limited) made up to 30 April each year. Control is achieved where the

Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its

activities. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. The Income Statement,

is only presented in consolidated form, as provided by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.

Notes to the Accounts
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(c) Presentation of Consolidated Income Statement

In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company and in accordance with the guidance set out by the

AITC, supplementary information which analyses the Consolidated Income Statement between items of a revenue and capital

nature has been presented alongside the Consolidated Income Statement. In accordance with the Company’s status as a UK

investment company under section 266 of the Companies Act 1985, net capital returns may not be distributed by way of

dividend. Additionally, the net revenue is the measure the Directors believe appropriate in assessing the Group’s compliance

with certain requirements set out in section 842 Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

(d) Income

Dividends receivable from equity shares are taken to the revenue return column of the Consolidated Income Statement on an

ex-dividend basis. 

Special dividends are recognised on an ex-dividend basis and may be considered to be capital items. The facts and

circumstances are considered on a case by case basis before a conclusion on appropriate allocation is reached. 

Where the Company has received dividends in the form of additional shares rather than in cash, the amount of the cash

dividend foregone is recognised in the revenue return column of the Consolidated Income Statement. Any excess in value of

shares received over the amount of the cash dividend foregone is recognised in the capital return column of the Consolidated

Income Statement. 

The fixed returns on debt securities and non-equity shares are recognised under the effective interest rate method. Bank

interest and other income receivable are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

The dealing profits of the subsidiary undertaking, representing realised gains and losses on the sale of non current asset

investments, are dealt with in the Group financial statements as a revenue item.

(e) Expenses and Finance costs

All expenses, including the management fee, are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

An analysis of retained earnings broken down into revenue (distributable) items and capital (non-distributable) items is given in

note 23. In arriving at this breakdown, expenses have been presented as revenue items except as follows: 

– any performance fees payable are allocated wholly to capital, reflecting the fact that, although they are calculated on a total

return basis, they are expected to be attributable largely, if not wholly, to capital performance.

– transaction costs incurred on the acquisition or disposal of investments are expensed and included in the costs of acquisition

or deducted from the proceeds of sale as appropriate.

Finance costs are calculated using the effective yield method and are accounted for on an accruals basis.

(f) Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the

Consolidated Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years

and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate tax relief on expenses presented

against capital returns in the supplementary information in the Consolidated Income Statement is the “marginal basis”. 

Under this basis, if taxable income is capable of being offset entirely by expenses presented in the revenue return column of

the Consolidated Income Statement, then no tax relief is transferred to the capital return column.
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Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is

accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against

which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Investment trusts which have approval as such under section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are not liable

for taxation on capital gains.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Consolidated Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(g) Investments held at fair value through profit or loss

When a purchase or sale is made under contract, the terms of which require delivery within the timeframe of the relevant

market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date.

On initial recognition the Group has designated all of its investments as held at fair value through profit or loss as defined by

IFRS. All investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, which is either the bid price or the last traded

price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which the investment is quoted. Investments in subsidiary

undertakings are stated in the Company’s accounts at fair value.

Investments in unit trusts or OEICs are valued at the closing price, the bid price or the single price as appropriate, released by

the relevant investment manager.

Fair value for unquoted investments, or for investments for which there is only an inactive market, are established by using

various valuation techniques. These may include recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of another

instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. Where there is a valuation

technique commonly used by market participants to price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to

provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, that technique is utilised. Where no reliable fair

value can be estimated for such instruments, they are carried at cost, subject to any provision for impairment.

Changes in fair value of all investments held at fair value and realised gains and losses on disposal are recognised in the capital

return column of the Consolidated Income Statement. All investments held at fair value through profit or loss are subject to an

assessment of impairment on an annual basis.

(h) Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise influence, but not control or joint control, through

participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity. The Group’s associates are accounted for in accordance with

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) as investments designated at fair value through profit or loss,

and therefore, in accordance with paragraph 1 of IAS 28 Investments in Associates (“IAS 28”), equity accounting is not required.

(i) Other receivables

Other receivables do not carry any interest and are short-term in nature and are accordingly stated at their nominal value as

reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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(j) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily

convertible to known amounts of cash.

(k) Other payables

Other payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

(l) Non current liabilities

All bank loans are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received, less issue costs where

applicable. After initial recognition these loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by

taking into account any discount or premium on settlement. The amounts falling due for repayment within one year are

included under current liabilities in the Balance Sheet.

(m) Rates of exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of each transaction.

Foreign currency assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling on

that date. Realised profits or losses on exchange, together with differences arising on the translation of foreign currency assets

or liabilities, are taken to the capital return column of the Consolidated Income Statement.

(n) Derivative financial instruments

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and

interest rates. Derivative transactions which the Company may enter into comprise forward exchange contracts, the purpose of

which is to manage the currency risks arising from the Company’s investing activities, quoted options on shares held within the

portfolio, or on indices appropriate to sections of the portfolio, the purpose of which is to provide protection against falls in

capital values of the holdings. The Group does not use derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies as approved by the Board, which has set written principles

for the use of financial derivatives.

A derivative instrument is considered to be used for hedging purposes, when it alters the market risk profile of an existing underlying

exposure of the Group. The use of financial derivatives by the Group does not qualify for hedge accounting. As a result changes

in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as they arise. If capital in

nature, the associated change in value is presented in the capital return column of the Consolidated Income Statement.

(o) Segmental Reporting

Geographical segments are considered to be the primary reporting segments. An analysis of investments held and investment

income by geographical segment is set out in note 29. 

Analysis of expenses by geographical segment and of profit by geographical segment have not been given as it is not possible

to prepare such information in a meaningful way. Analyses of the remaining assets and liabilities by geographical region have

not been given as either it is not possible to prepare such information in a meaningful way, or the results are not considered to

be significant.

Business segments are the secondary reporting segments. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is engaged in a

single segment of business with the objective of maximising capital growth for its shareholders through investing in a

diversified portfolio of technology companies around the world.
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3 Investment income
Year ended Year ended 

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

Franked: 

Listed investments 243 431 

Unfranked: 

Listed investments 

Dividend income 1,517 1,335 

Interest income 869 807

2,386 2,142

Total income from investments held at fair value 2,629 2,573

4 Other operating income
Year ended Year ended

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

Bank interest 625 691 

Futures deposit interest 67 3 

Dealing profits – 27 

692 721

5 Gains/(losses) on investments held at fair value
Year ended Year ended 

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

Net realised gains based on historical cost 35,445 10,419 

Add/(deduct): amounts recognised as unrealised in the previous year 6,045 (20,876) 

Realised gains/(losses) based on carrying value at previous balance sheet date 41,490 (10,457)

Liquidation proceeds 11 – 

Realised (losses)/gains on forward currency contracts (413) 3,219 

Net movement in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) on non current assets 48,250 (6,092) 

Net movement in unrealised depreciation on forward foreign exchange contracts – (75)

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange movements 626 (373) 

89,964 (13,778) 

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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6 Investment management fee (charged wholly to revenue)
Year ended Year ended

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

Investment management fee paid to Polar Capital LLP (including irrecoverable VAT) 3,465 3,224

No performance fee was paid.

7 Other administrative expenses (including VAT where appropriate)
Year ended Year ended

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

Directors’ fees 90 99 

Auditors’ remuneration: For audit services 33 21

For non-audit services 22 26 

Other expenses (including Shareplan and ISA administration fees) 526 463 

671 609 

The non-audit services cover tax, VAT and Section 842 advice provided by the Newcastle office of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”).

The London and Edinburgh offices of PwC provide audit services.

The total expense ratio is 1.39% if the management fee shown in note 6 is added to the other adminsitrative expenses and based on

the average equity shareholder’s funds over the year.

8 Finance costs
Year ended Year ended

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

Interest on loans and overdrafts repayable within one year 454 501 
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9 Taxation
Year ended Year ended

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

a) Analysis of tax charge for the year:

Foreign tax 193 154 

Total current tax for the year 193 154 

Deferred tax – –

Total tax for the year (see note 9b) 193 154 

b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year:

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

Profit/(loss) before tax 88,695 (14,818)

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2005: 30%) 26,609 (4,445)

Tax effect of non-taxable UK dividends (73) (130)

Tax effect of non-taxable stock dividends (47) (21)

(Gains)/losses on investments that are not taxable (26,993) 4,130 

Unrelieved current year expenses and deficits 493 466

Expenses and finance costs not deductible for tax purposes 11 –

Overseas tax suffered 193 154 

Total tax for the year (see note 9a) 193 154 

There is an unrecognised deferred tax asset comprising:

Unrelieved management expenses 18,419 17,928 

Eligible unrelieved foreign tax 649 498 

19,068 18,426 

It is unlikely that the Company will generate sufficient taxable profits in the future to utilise these expenses and deficits and therefore

no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

Due to the Company’s tax status as an investment trust and the intention to continue meeting the conditions required to obtain

approval of such status in the forseeable future, the Company has not provided tax on any capital gains arising on the revaluation or

disposal of investments.

10 earnings per ordinary share 
Year ended 30 April 2006 Year ended 30 April 2005

Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total
return return return return return return
pence pence pence pence pence pence

From continuing operations

Basic – ordinary shares (1.15) 70.73 69.58 (0.91) (10.51) (11.42)

Diluted – ordinary shares (1.11) 68.28 67.17 (0.91) (10.51) (11.42)

Earnings per ordinary share is based on the net profit after taxation attributable to the ordinary shares of £88,502,000 (30 April

2005 – losses of £14,972,000) and on 127,193,972 (30 April 2005 – 131,110,198) ordinary shares, being the weighted average

number of shares in issue during the year.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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The calculations of the diluted earnings per ordinary share are carried out in accordance with International Accounting Standard 33,

Earnings per share. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the number of shares is the weighted average used in

the basic calculation plus a number of shares deemed to be issued for no consideration on exercise of all warrants, by reference to the

average price of the ordinary shares during the year. The calculations indicate that the exercise of warrants would result in an

additional weighted average number of shares of 4,556,605 (2005: nil) resulting in a total weighted average number of shares of

131,750,577 (2005: 131,110,198).

11 Changes in non current assets
Group Group Company Company

30 April 2006 30 April 2005 30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Valuation at 30 April 2005 as previously reported 220,341 274,247 222,128 275,858 

Revalue portfolio to bid at 30 April 2005 (798) – (798) – 

Valuation at 1 May 2005 

as adjusted to comply with IFRS 219,543 274,247 221,330 275,858 

Less: Unrealised (appreciation)/depreciation 9,456 (18,309) 6,066 (21,483)

Cost at 1 May 2005 228,999 255,938 227,396 254,375 

Additions at cost 315,173 274,701 315,092 274,661

Proceeds of disposal (261,755) (312,058) (261,755) (312,058)

Realised gains on sale 35,445 10,419 35,445 10,419

Cost at 30 April 2006 317,862 229,000 316,178 227,397

Add: Unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) 44,839 (8,659) 46,935 (5,269)

Valuation at 30 April 2006 362,701 220,341 363,113 222,128 

Of which:

Listed on a recognised Stock Exchange 359,122 219,411 357,438 217,808

Unlisted 3,579 930 5,675 4,320 

Included in additions at cost are purchase costs of £870,000 (30 April 2005: £876,000). Included in proceeds of disposals are sales

costs of £809,000 (30 April 2005: £1,018,000). These comprise mainly stamp duty and commission. 

Unquoted investments

The value of the unquoted investments as at 30 April 2006 was £3,579,000 (30 April 2005: £930,000) and the portfolio comprised

of the following holdings:

Investment Valuation £’000 

Domain Associates Public Equity Partners 2,377 

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership 1,003 

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership II 129 

TR Ecotec 70 

UCM _ 

Unus Technologies _ 

3,579 
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12 Subsidiary undertaking 

PCT Finance Limited

The Company owns the entire share capital consisting of 2 ordinary shares of £1 of PCT Finance Limited, which is registered in

England and Wales and operates in the United Kingdom. The subsidiary’s business is that of a dealing company.

The cost of investment in the subsidiary was £2 (30 April 2005: £2). 
Company Company

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

Balance brought forward at 30 April 2005 3,390 3,174 

Revaluation of subsidiary (1,294) 216 

Balance carried forward at 30 April 2006 2,096 3,390 

During the year an interim dividend of £1,500,000 (30 April 2005: £nil) was paid to Polar Capital Technology Trust plc. 

13 Substantial equity interests 

The Company has a 331/3% interest as a limited partner in TR Ecotec Environmental Fund (“the Fund”), an English Limited Partnership

registered under the Limited Partnership Act 1907, the principal place of business of which is 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2NB. 

The Directors do not consider the Fund to be an associate of the Company because in their view the Company does not participate in

the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity.

The Company also has a 4.5% interest as a limited partner in Domain Public Equity Partners L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

In addition to the above, the Company has interests of 3% or more of any share class of capital in 5 (30 April 2005: nil) investee

companies:

company %

Sinosoft 6.4

Datong Electronics 5.6

Inicis 5.3

Sanderson 4.8

ST Shire Optical 3.4

At 30 April 2006 these investments did not represent more than 1% of the Company’s investments and therefore are not considered

significant in the context of these accounts.
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14 Other receivables
Group Group Company Company

30 April 2006 30 April 2005 30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Sales for future settlement 2,151 6,483 2,151 6,483 

Foreign exchange contracts awaiting settlement – 19,590 – 19,590 

Spot foreign exchange contracts awaiting settlement 1,550 2,946 1,550 2,946 

Overseas tax recoverable 14 – 14 – 

Prepayments and accrued income 377 291 360 268 

Amounts due from subsidiary undertaking – – 3,167 3,079 

VAT recoverable 258 98 258 98 

4,350 29,408 7,500 32,464 

15 Other payables
Group Group Company Company

30 April 2006 30 April 2005 30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Purchases for future settlement 4,540 3,590 4,540 3,590 

Foreign exchange contracts awaiting settlement – 19,665 – 19,665 

Spot foreign exchange contracts awaiting settlement 1,555 2,949 1,555 2,949 

Accruals 1,398 264 1,398 264

7,493 26,468 7,493 26,468 

Included in purchases for future settlement are amounts for ordinary shares repurchased of £nil (30 April 2005: £1,065,000) and

warrants repurchased of £nil (30 April 2005: £129,000). 

16 Bank loans 
Group and Group and
Company Company 

30 April 2006 30 April 2005 
£’000 £’000 

The Group has the following unsecured Japanese Yen loans: 

¥2,760m at a fixed rate of 0.970% repayable 31 August 2005 – 13,774 

¥2,100m at a fixed rate of 0.750% repayable 30 June 2006 – 10,480 

¥4,010m at a fixed rate of 0.840% repayable 30 June 2006 19,318 20,012 

¥5,000m at a fixed rate of 1.215% repayable 30 September 2008 24,088 – 

43,406 44,266 

Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities) (19,318) (13,774) 

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months 24,088 30,492
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17 Derivatives and other financial instruments
(a) Management of risk

The Group’s financial instruments comprise:

• Equity and non-equity shares and fixed interest securities which are held in accordance with the Group’s investment objectives

which are set out on the inside front cover of the Report and Accounts;

• Term loans and bank overdrafts, the main purpose of which is to raise finance for the Group’s operations;

• Cash, liquid resources and short-term receivables and payables that arise directly from the Group’s operations;

• Derivative transactions which the Group enters into comprise index options and forward foreign exchange contracts. The purpose

of these is to manage the market price risks and foreign exchange risks arising from the Group’s investment activities.

There were no index option positions open at 30 April 2006 (2005: unrealised gain £75,000).

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The

Board regularly reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. These policies have

remained unchanged since the inception of the Group. It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy

that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

Short term receivables and payables are excluded from disclosure other than for currency disclosure (see note 17d).

Market price risk

Market risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments used in the Group’s operations. It represents

the potential loss the Group might suffer through holding market positions in the face of price movements.

It is the Board’s policy to hold an appropriate spread of investments in the portfolio in order to reduce both the statistical risk and the

risk arising from factors specific to a particular technology sector. The allocation of assets to international markets, together with

stock selection covering small, medium and large companies, and the use of index options, are other factors which act to reduce

market price risk. The fund manager actively monitors market prices throughout the year and reports to the Board which meets

regularly in order to consider investment strategy.

Market interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through its term loans as well as bank overdrafts and any retained gains arising from operations.

The Group uses borrowings in the desired currencies at both fixed and floating rates of interest to both generate the desired interest

rate profile and manage the exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The Board imposes borrowing limits to ensure gearing levels are

appropriate to market conditions and reviews these on a regular basis.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market

interest rates. The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is primarily through the cash balances held which earn interest by

reference to LIBOR or international equivalent.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s assets comprise mainly readily realisable securities which can be sold to meet funding commitments if necessary. The

maturity of the Group’s existing borrowings are set out in note 16 to the accounts. Short-term flexibility is achieved through the use

of overdraft facilities.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s total return and net assets can be significantly affected by currency translation movements as the majority of the Group’s

assets and revenue are denominated in currencies other than sterling. The portfolio fund manager mitigates the individual currency

risks through the international spread of investments and the use of forward foreign exchange contracts. Borrowings in foreign

currencies are entered into to manage the asset exposure to those currencies, which vary in accordance with the asset allocation.

(b) Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets

The majority of the Group’s financial assets are equity shares and other investments which neither pay interest nor have a stated

maturity date.

Material interest bearing assets earn interest by reference to LIBOR or international equivalents.
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Financial liabilities

The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 30 April 2006 was:
30 April 2006 30 April 2005

Floating rate Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate
financial financial financial financial

Total liabilities liabilities Total liabilities liabilities
Currency £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Yen 43,406 – 43,406 44,266 – 44,266 

The weighted average interest rate on the above liabilities was 1.048% (30 April 2005: 0.859%).

The weighted average period for which the interest rate is fixed was 1.419 years (30 April 2005: 0.910 years).

(c) Maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 30 April 2006 was: 30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 

In one year or less, or on demand 19,318 13,774

In more than one year but no more than two years 24,088 30,492

43,406 44,266

The Group has no undrawn borrowing facilities. (2005: nil)

(d) Currency exposure 30 April 2006 30 April 2005
Investments Net Net foreign Investments Net Net foreign

denominated monetary currency denominated monetary currency
in overseas assets/ monetary in overseas assets/ monetary 
currencies (liabilities) assets currencies (liabilities) assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

US dollar 183,679 1,598 185,277 109,959 12,928 122,887

Euro 42,148 344 42,492 18,870 310 19,180

Yen 54,219 (23,247) 30,972 24,818 (23,564) 1,254

Other non-sterling 30,040 11,486 41,526 27,536 12,391 39,927 

Sub total 310,086 (9,819) 300,267 181,183 2,065 183,248 

Sterling 52,615 5,320 57,935 39,158 14,831 53,989 

Total net assets 362,701 (4,499) 358,202 220,341 16,896 237,237 

18 Ordinary share capital
Group and Group and
Company Company

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000

Authorised: 860,000,000 ordinary shares of 25p 215,000 215,000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid: 139,990,821 (2005: 115,320,162) ordinary shares of 25p 34,998 28,830 

On 12 May 2005 the Company made market purchases of 277,000 of its own shares for cancellation, for a total consideration of

£471,412 including stamp duty (nominal value of £69,250) at 169p per share. 

On 6 October 2005 19,195,659 ordinary shares of 25p (with a nominal value of £4,798,915) were issued on the exercise of warrants.

On 6 February 2006 5,752,000 ordinary shares of 25p (with a nominal value of £1,438,000) were issued.

For further details please see the Directors’ Report.
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19 Capital redemption reserve
Group and
Company

£’000

As at 1 May 2005 9,145 

Transfer to capital redemption reserve on buy back of shares 69 

At 30 April 2006 9,214 

20 Share premium
Group and
Company

£’000

As at 1 May 2005 90,134

Exercise of warrants for ordinary shares 14,397

Issue of ordinary shares 13,371

At 30 April 2006 117,902

21 Warrant reserve
Group and
Company

£’000

As at 1 May 2005 6,179

Transfer to warrant exercise reserve on exercise of warrants (6,053)

Repurchase of warrants (126)

At 30 April 2006 –

During the year 400,000 (30 April 2005: 1,345,000) warrants were purchased at a price of 69.00p (30 April 2005: between 46.00p

and 74.20p) each. As at 30 April 2006, none (30 April 2005: 200,000) of these warrants had yet to be cancelled by the Company.

22 Warrant exercise reserve
Group and
Company

£’000

As at 1 May 2005 1,483 

Transfer from warrant reserve on exercise of warrants 6,053 

At 30 April 2006 7,536 

All warrantholders were entitled to subscribe for ordinary shares of 25p in the Company on the basis of one ordinary share for one

warrant. Warrants may have been exercised on 30 September in each of the years up to 2005 inclusive at a price of 100p per share.

At 30 April 2006 there were no warrants outstanding (30 April 2005: 19,595,659).

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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23 Retained earnings
Capital Capital 
reserve - reserve - Revenue Retained

realised unrealised reserve earnings
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group:

At 30 April 2004 as previously reported 205,568 20,936 (54,342) 172,162 

Loss for the year to 30 April 2005 (13,778) – (1,194) (14,972)

Transfer unrealised capital losses at 30 April 2005 28,246 (28,246) – –

Repurchase of warrants (438) – – (438)

Shares bought back for cancellation (55,286) – – (55,286)

At 30 April 2005 as previously reported 164,312 (7,310) (55,536) 101,466

Revalue portfolio to bid at 30 April 2005 – (798) – (798)

Opening balances at 1 May 2005 

as adjusted to comply with IFRS 164,312 (8,108) (55,536) 100,668 

Profit/(loss) for the year to 30 April 2006 89,964 – (1,462) 88,502

Transfer unrealised capital profits at 30 April 2006 (55,200) 55,200 – –

Repurchase of warrants (150) – – (150)

Cost of ordinary share repurchases (468) – – (468)

Balance at 30 April 2006 198,458 47,092 (56,998) 188,552

Company:

At 30 April 2004 as previously reported 205,568 24,110 (57,516) 172,162

Loss for the year to 30 April 2005 (13,778) – (1,410) (15,188)

PCT Finance Limited (see note 12) – 216 – 216

Transfer unrealised capital losses at 30 April 2005 28,246 (28,246) – –

Repurchase of warrants (438) – – (438)

Shares bought back for cancellation (55,286) – – (55,286)

At 30 April 2005 as previously reported 164,312 (3,920) (58,926) 101,466

Revalue portfolio to bid at 30 April 2005 – (798) – (798)

Opening balances at 1 May 2005 

as adjusted to comply with IFRS 164,312 (4,718) (58,926) 100,668

Profit/(loss) for the year to 30 April 2006 89,964 – (168) 89,796

PCT Finance Limited (see note 12) – (1,294) – (1,294)

Transfer unrealised capital profits at 30 April 2006 (55,200) 55,200 – –

Repurchase of warrants (150) – – (150)

Cost of ordinary share repurchases (468) – – (468)

Balance at 30 April 2006 198,458 49,188 (59,094) 188,552
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24 Note to the cash flow statement

Purchases and sales of investments are considered to be operating activities of the Company, given its purpose, rather than investing

activities. However, the cash flows associated with these activities are presented below.
Group and Group and
Company Company

Year ended Year ended
30 April 2006 30 April 2005

£’000 £’000

Proceeds on disposal of fair value through profit or loss investments 265,425 308,327

Purchases of fair value through profit or loss investments (310,570) (271,719)

(45,145) 36,608

25 Capital commitments

At 30 April 2006 the Group had a commitment in respect of the following limited partnerships:
Commitment at Drawn down at Commitment at Drawn down at

30 April 2006 30 April 2006 30 April 2005 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Hearld Ventures Limited Partnership 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

Hearld Ventures Limited Partnership II 500 125 500 75

Domain Associates Public Equity Partners 2,201 2,201 – –

26 Related party transactions

Under the terms of an agreement dated 9 February 2001 the Company has appointed Polar Capital LLP (“Polar Capital”) to provide

investment management, accounting, secretarial and administrative services. Details of the fee arrangement for these services are

given in the Report of the Directors. The total fees, paid under this agreement to Polar Capital in respect of the year ended 30 April

2006 was £3,465,000 (2005: £3,224,000) of which £1,120,000 (2005: £nil) was outstanding at the year-end. In addition to the

above services Polar Capital has procured a Share Savings Scheme, PEP transfer and ISA product to be offered on behalf of the

Company by BNP Paribas Securities Services. The total fee paid to BNP Paribas for these services for the year ended 30 April 2006

amounted to £136,000 ( including irrecoverable VAT) and the Company received income of £49,000 in respect of the charges collected

from investors. The compensation payable to key management personnel in respect of short term employee benefits is £144,500

(2005: £181,558) which comprises £90,000 (2005: £99,000) paid by the Company to the Directors and £54,500 (2005: £82,558)

paid by Polar Capital to Mr Ashford-Russell in respect of services to the Company.

27 Net asset value per ordinary share
Net asset value per share

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
pence pence

Ordinary shares:

Undiluted 255.88 205.72

Diluted 255.88 190.36

The undiluted net asset value per ordinary share is based on net assets at the year end and on 139,990,821 (2005: 115,320,162)

ordinary shares, being the number of ordinary shares in issue at the year end.

The fully diluted net asset value per ordinary share, as disclosed above, is calculated in accordance with the SORP, based on the assumption

that any warrants in issue at the balance sheet date were converted into ordinary shares. Dilution is assumed to occur only if the undiluted

net asset value is greater than the subscription price of 100p. At 30 April 2006 there were no warrants in issue (2005: 19,595,659).

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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The movement during the year of the net assets attributable to the ordinary shares was as follows:
Year ended Year ended

30 April 2006 30 April 2005
£’000 £’000

Net assets at 30 April 2005 as previously reported 237,237 306,636

Effect of transition to IFRS; revaluation of investments at 1 May 2005 to fair value (798) –

Exercise of warrants for ordinary shares 19,196 1,722

Repurchase of warrants (276) (863)

Cost of ordinary share repurchases (468) (55,286)

Issue of ordinary share capital 14,809 –

Net profit/(loss) for the year on ordinary activity after taxation 88,502 (14,972)

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders at 30 April 358,202 237,237

28 Explanation of transition to IFRS

This is the first year that the Group has presented its financial statements under IFRS. The following disclosures are required in the

year of transition.

(i) Equity at 1 May 2004, being the Group and Company’s date of transition to IFRS.

As explained in Note 1, General Information, comparative information has not been restated to reflect the requirements of IAS 39

retrospectively. There were no other IFRS’s that would affect the Group or Company's equity at 1 May 2004 as previously reported

under UK GAAP.

(ii) Total return for the year to 30 April 2005

As explained in Note 1, General Information, comparative information has not been restated to reflect the requirements of IAS 39

retrospectively. However, the principal impact of IFRS on reported profit is that the Statement of Total Return is now called the

Income Statement and, as a result, measures of profit and loss now include not only revenue items but also capital items.

Accordingly, loss after tax as previously reported under UK GAAP of £1,149,000 (Company: £1,410,000) is adjusted by the capital

loss of £13,778,000 (Company: £13,562,000), to give a loss after tax restated for the adoption of IFRS of £14,972,000) (Company:

£14,972,000).

(iii) Equity at 30 April 2005, being the Group and Company’s last financial year end

As explained in Note 1 General Information, comparative information has not been restated to reflect the requirements of IAS 39

retrospectively and consequently 30 April 2005 represents both the balance sheet date of the last published annual report and the

last date prior to the commencement of the first reporting period under IFRS.

Reconciliation of equity at 1 May 2005 (date of commencement of first reporting period under IFRS)
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28 Explanation of transition to IFRSs (continued)
Group Company

(Audited) (Audited)
Previously Opening Previously Opening

reported Effect of balances reported Effect of balances
30 April transition to at 1 May 30 April transition to at 1 May 

2005 IFRS 2005 2005 IFRS 2005
Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investments

Listed at market value:

United Kingdom 1 27,248 (312) 26,936 27,248 (312) 26,936 

Overseas 190,560 (486) 190,074 190,560 (486) 190,074 

217,808 (798) 217,010 217,808 (798) 217,010 

Unlisted at directors’ valuation:

Subsidiary undertaking – – – 3,390 – 3,390 

Other United Kingdom 930 – 930 930 – 930 

Investments held at fair value 1 218,738 (798) 217,940 222,128 (798) 221,330 

Current assets

Investments held at fair value 1,603 – 1,603 – – –

Debtors 29,408 – 29,408 32,464 – 32,464 

Cash and cash equivalents 58,222 – 58,222 53,379 – 53,379 

89,233 – 89,233 85,843 – 85,843 

Creditors: amounts falling due 

within one year (40,242) – (40,242) (40,242) – (40,242)

Net current assets 48,991 – 48,991 45,601 – 45,601

Total assets less current liabilities 267,729 (798) 266,931 267,729 (798) 266,931 

Creditors: amounts falling due 

after more than one year (30,492) – (30,492) (30,492) – (30,492)

237,237 (798) 236,439 237,237 (798) 236,439 

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 28,830 – 28,830 28,830 – 28,830 

Capital redemption reserve 9,145 – 9,145 9,145 – 9,145 

Share premium 90,134 – 90,134 90,134 – 90,134 

Warrant reserve 6,179 – 6,179 6,179 – 6,179 

Warrant exercise reserve 1,483 – 1,483 1,483 – 1,483 

Retained earnings 2 – 100,668 100,668 – 100,668 100,668 

Other capital reserves 157,002 (157,002) – 160,392 (160,392) –

Revenue reserve (55,536) 55,536 – (58,926) 58,926 –

Total equity 237,237 (798) 236,439 237,237 (798) 236,439 

Notes:

(1) Effect of revaluing investments at fair value.

(2) Retained earnings comprise other capital reserves and revenue reserves.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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(iv) Reconciliation of the Group Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 April 2005
Previously Effect of Adjusted 

reported transition to cash
UK GAAP IFRS flows

30 April 30 April 30 April
2005 2005 2005

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net cash from operating activities 1 (1,507) 40,635 39,128

Taxation 1 42 (42) –

Net cash from servicing of finance 2 506 506 –

Net cash from investment activities 1 41,652 (41,652) –

Net cash from financing activities 2 (54,281) (506) (54,787)

Exchange movements (373) – (373)

Decrease in cash 3 (14,973) (1,059) (16,032)

Notes to the reconciliation of the Group Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 April 2005:

(1) Purchases and sales of investments and taxation are considered to be operating activities of the Group.

(2) Servicing of finance is now analysed within financing activities.

(3) Debt balances are no longer aggregated with cash balances for reporting cash flow movements.

29 Segmental Reporting

An analysis of the Group’s investments held at 30 April 2006 by geographical segment and the related investment income earned

during the year to 30 April 2006 is noted below:
Value of Gross

Investments Income
£’000 £’000

North America 177,284 507

Europe 111,529 1,539

Asia 73,888 583

Total 362,701 2,629
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Capital Gains Tax 

The Finance Act 1998 included provisions which made considerable

changes to the way that chargeable gains are calculated for non-

corporate shareholders in respect of disposals made on or after 

6 April 1998. From that date pooling no longer applies and disposals

are matched against shares acquired in the following order: 

• same date acquisitions; 

• acquisitions within the following 30 days (using the ‘first in

last out’ basis); 

• previous acquisitions on or after 6 April 1998 (using the ‘last

in first out’ basis); 

• any shares held in the pool as at 5 April 1998; 

• any shares held in the pool as at 5 April 1982; 

• any shares acquired before 6 April 1965; and 

• any shares acquired subsequent to the disposal. 

For disposals on or after 6 April 1998 indexation is still allowed but

only up to April 1998. The Finance Act changes apply a taper relief

to the amount of the chargeable gain on these disposals. The taper

is 5% for each complete year of ownership after the first two

complete years, with a maximum reduction of 40% after ten

complete years. 

In calculating the tapering relief, assets held before 17 March 1998

qualify for an extra year. The way that chargeable gains are

calculated for companies is currently under review by the Inland

Revenue and for the time being pooling remains. 

The special rules that previously applied to shareholders disposing

of shares who had purchased their shares through Polar Capital

Investors Investment Trust Share Plan on a monthly basis, were

withdrawn by the Inland Revenue for savings commenced on or

after 6 April 1998. When savings commenced before 6 April 1998,

the simplified basis will still apply for acquisitions during the

investment trust’s accounting period ended before 6 April 1999,

which in the case of the Company is 30 April 1998. 

The calculation of the tax on chargeable gains will depend on

personal circumstances. The above information is of a general

nature and is not exhaustive. If you are in any doubt about your

personal tax position, you are recommended to contact your

professional adviser. 

shareholder and investor information 
– Tax

MARKET PRICES OF THE COMPANY’S SHARES AND

WARRANTS 

The market prices, for capital gains tax purposes, of the Company’s

shares and warrants at the close of business on 16 December 1996,

the first day of dealings in the Company’s shares and warrants, and

17 March 1997, the first day of dealings after the conversion of the

C shares, were as follows: 

16 December 17 March
1996 1997 

ordinary shares of 25p each 96.0p 88.5p 

warrants to subscribe for ordinary shares 36.0p 31.0p 

Source: Dun & Bradstreet 

FORMER SHAREHOLDERS OF TR TECHNOLOGY PLC 

Former shareholders of TR Technology PLC who accepted the offers

made by Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC for their shares in 

TR Technology PLC may find the following table helpful: 

TR Technology PLC

Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC 

For each ordinary share of 25p each:

On 16 December 1996, one C share of 200p each. 

On 14 March 1997, on conversion of the C shares, 3.94342

ordinary shares of 25p each and one warrant to subscribe for

ordinary shares in respect of every five ordinary shares arising on

conversion of the C shares.

For each stepped preference share of 25p each:

On 16 December 1996, 1.5561743 ordinary shares of 25p each

and one warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares in respect of every

five such ordinary shares. 

For each zero dividend preference share of 25p each:

On 16 December 1996, 2.7392426 ordinary shares of 25p each

and one warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares in respect of every

five such ordinary shares.
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Investment Manager

Polar Capital LLP 

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority 

Fund Manager 

B J D Ashford-Russell 

Deputy Fund Manager 

B Rogoff 

Secretary 

Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited, 

represented by N P Taylor FCIS 

Registered Office 

4 Matthew Parker Street 

London SW1H 9NP 

020 7227 2700

Auditors 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Southwark Towers 

32 London Bridge Street 

London SE1 9SY 

Solicitors 

Herbert Smith 

Exchange House 

Primrose Street 

London EC2A 2HS 

Stockbrokers 

UBS Investment Bank 

1 Finsbury Avenue 

London EC2M 2PP 

Bankers and Custodian 

JPMorgan Chase Bank NA

125 London Wall 

London EC2Y 5AJ 

Registered Number 

Registered in England and Wales 

No. 3224867 

shareholder and investor information 
– contacts

Company Website 

www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk

Registrar 

Shareholders who have their shares registered in their own name,

not through a Share Savings Scheme or PEP/ISA, can contact the

registrars with any queries on their holding. In correspondence you

should refer to Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC, stating clearly the

registered name and address and if available the full account number. 

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway 

Worthing 

West Sussex BN99 6DA 

Shareholder helpline: 0870 6015366 

www.shareview.co.uk

Savings scheme and isa 

For shareholders who have their shares registered through the

company sponsored savings scheme information can be obtained

by contacting

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Ltd

Block C, Western House

Lynchwood Business Park 

Peterborough PE2 6BP 

Telephone: 0845 358 1109 

or 00 44 1733 285784 if phoning from overseas

Fax: 01733 285822 



SHARE PRICE AND PERFORMANCE DETAILS 

The Company’s Net Asset Value (“NAV”) is released daily, on the

next working day following the calculation date, to the London

Stock Exchange. 

The mid-market prices of the ordinary shares and warrants are

published daily in the Financial Times in the Companies and

Markets section under the heading “Investment Companies”. 

Share price information is also available from the London Stock

Exchange Website www.londonstockexchange.co.uk (PCT),

Bloomberg (PCT.LN), Reuters (PCT.L), and SEDOL codes: Ordinary

Shares – 0422002. 

Portfolio details 

Portfolio information is provided to the AITC for its monthly

statistical information service (www.AITC.co.uk) and monthly fact

sheets, as well as previous copies of annual report and accounts, are

available on the Company’s website 

www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk

DISABILITY ACT 

Copies of this Report and Accounts or other documents

issued by the Company are available from the Company

Secretary. If needed, copies can be made available in a

variety of formats, either Braille or on audio tape or larger

type as appropriate. 

You can contact our Registrars, Lloyds TSB Registrars

Scotland, who have installed textphones to allow speech

and hearing impaired people who have their own

textphone to contact them directly by ringing 0870 600

3950 without the need for an intermediate operator.

Specially trained operators are available during normal

business hours to answer queries via this service. 

Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’

operator (provided by the Royal National Institute for the

Deaf). You should dial 18001 followed by the number you

wish to dial.

For shareholders attending the Annual General Meeting

of the Company an induction loop is available for hearing

aid wearers. 
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NOMINEE SHAREHOLDER CODE 

Where notification has been provided in advance the Company will

arrange for copies of shareholder communications to be provided

to the operators of nominee accounts. Nominee service providers

are encouraged to advise investors that they may attend general

meetings and speak at meetings when invited by the Chairman. 

Investors in the BNP Paribas Polar Capital Technology Trust Share

Savings Scheme and the BNP Paribas Polar Capital Technology Trust

ISA receive all shareholder communications. A voting instruction

form is provided to facilitate voting. 

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 

The key dates in the Company’s financial year are as follows: 

30 April Financial year end 

Mid-June Announcement of results 

Mid-July Annual General Meeting 

31 October Half-year end 

Mid-December Announcement of half-year results

shareholder and investor information 
– GENERAL
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HISTORIC PERFORMANCE for the years ended 30 April
(Restated)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Total net assets (£’000) 141,474 201,891 279,946 668,727 401,337 287,229 221,022 306,636 236,439 358,202

NAV per share (pence) 

undiluted 96.2 137.2 190.2 452.8 270.2 192.8 148.3 208.1 205.0 –

diluted 96.2 131.0 175.3 395.8 243.7 178.5 141.3 193.7 189.8 255.9

Share price (pence) 89.0 115.0 167.5 436.0 281.5 165.0 120.5 164.8 165.5 245.0

Indices of Performance 

Share price 100.0 129.2 188.2 489.9 316.3 185.4 135.4 185.1 186.0 275.3

Net asset value per share* 100.0 142.6 197.7 470.7 280.9 200.4 154.2 216.3 213.8 266.0

Dow Jones World Technology 100.0 137.0 196.7 379.0 212.2 143.0 102.7 123.2 111.6 147.4

The Company commenced trading on 16 December 1996 and the share price on the first day was 96.0p per share and the NAV per share

was 97.5p. 

* The net asset value per share growth is based on undiluted nav per share from 1997 to 2005 and following the exercise of warrants on 30 September 2005 on diluted nav per

share for 2006.

Sources: HSBC Securities Services and Polar Capital Partners.

shareholder and investor information
– Historic performance



Notice is hereby given that the 10th Annual General Meeting of

Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC will be held at the offices of UBS

Investment Bank, 1 Finsbury Avenue, London EC2M 2PP on Friday

21 July 2006 at 12.30 pm for the transaction of the following business: 

1 To receive and consider the Business Review and Report of

the Directors together with the Audited Accounts for the year

ended 30 April 2006. 

2 To receive and consider the Directors’ Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 April 2006. 

3 To re-appoint Mr Richard Wakeling as a Director of the Company.

4 To re-appoint Mr Brian Ashford-Russell as a Director of the

Company. 

5 To re-appoint Mr Peter Dicks as a Director of the Company. 

6 To re-appoint Mr David Gamble as a Director of the Company. 

7 To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors to the

Company. 

8 To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of

the Auditors. 

To consider and, if thought fit, pass resolutions 9 and 10 as ordinary

resolutions: 

9 THAT the Directors be and they are hereby generally and

unconditionally authorised in substitution for all existing

authorities to exercise all powers of the Company to allot

relevant securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of the

Companies Act 1985 (‘the Act’)) up to a maximum

aggregate nominal amount of £1,749,885 (being 5% of the

Company’s issued ordinary share capital on 13 June 2006)

PROVIDED THAT this authority shall expire at the conclusion

of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after

the passing of this resolution save that the said authority

shall allow and enable the Directors to make an offer or

agreement before the expiry of that authority which would or

might require relevant securities to be allotted after such

expiry and the Directors may allot relevant securities in

pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authority

conferred hereby had not expired.

10 THAT the limit on the aggregate annual sum of Directors fees

payable to Directors be increased from £150,000 to £200,000. 

To consider and, if thought fit, pass resolutions 11, 12 and 13 as

Special Resolutions (a special resolution is one that requires a

majority of at least 75% of those present and voting to be passed): 

11 THAT the Articles of Association in the form produced to the

meeting and initialled by the Chairman for the purposes of

identification be and are hereby approved and adopted as

the New Articles of Association of the Company in

substitution for and to the exclusion of all the existing Articles

of Association of the Company.

12 THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 9, the Directors be

and are hereby empowered pursuant to Section 95 of the Act

to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of

the Act) wholly for cash pursuant to the authority conferred

by resolution 9 as if sub-section (1) of Section 89 of the Act

did not apply to any such allotment PROVIDED THAT this

power shall be limited: 

(i) to the allotment of equity securities whether by way of

a rights issue, open offer or otherwise to ordinary

shareholders and/or holders of any other securities in

accordance with the rights of those securities where the

equity securities respectively attributable to the interests

of all ordinary shareholders and/or such holders are

proportionate (or as nearly as may be) to the respective

numbers of ordinary shares and such equity securities

held by them (or are otherwise allotted in accordance

with the rights attaching to such equity securities)

subject in either case to such exclusions or other

arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or

expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or local

or practical problems under the laws of, or the

requirements of, any regulatory body or any stock

exchange in any territory or otherwise howsoever; 

(ii) to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-

paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to a

maximum aggregate nominal value of £1,749,885

(being 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary share

capital on 13 June 2006); and 

(iii) to the allotment of equity securities at a price not less

than the net asset value per share 

and shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General

Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution

save that the Directors may before such expiry make an offer

or agreement which would or might require equity securities

Notice of annual general meeting
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to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot

equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement

as if the power conferred hereby had not expired. 

13 THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and

unconditionally authorised in accordance with Section 166 of

the Act to make market purchases (within the meaning of

Section 163 of the Act) of ordinary shares of 25p each in the

capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”), on such terms

and in such manner as the Directors may from time to time

determine provided that: 

(i) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby

authorised to be purchased shall be 20,998,600; 

(ii) the minimum price which may be paid for an Ordinary

Share is 25p; 

(iii) the maximum price which may be paid for an Ordinary

Share is an amount equal to 105 per cent. of the

average of the middle market quotations for an

Ordinary Share taken from the London Stock Exchange

Official List for the five business days immediately

preceding the day on which the Ordinary Share is

purchased or such other amount as may be specified

by the UK Listing Authority from time to time; 

(iv) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the

conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the

Company in 2007 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 12

months from the passing of this resolution, unless such

authority is renewed prior to such time; and 

(v) the Company may make a contract to purchase

Ordinary Shares under the authority hereby conferred

prior to the expiry of such authority which will or may

be executed wholly or partly after the expiration of

such authority and may make a purchase of Ordinary

Shares pursuant to any such contract. 

By order of the Board 

N P Taylor FCIS 

Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited 

Secretary

13 June 2006 

Registered Office: 

4 Matthew Parker Street, London SW1H 9NP 

1 Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities

Regulations 2001 the Company specifies that only those

holders of shares registered in the Register of Members as at

6pm on Wednesday, 19 July 2006 shall be entitled to attend

or vote at the Annual General Meeting in respect of the

number of shares registered in their name at that time.

Changes to entries on the register after 6pm on Wednesday,

19 July 2006 shall be disregarded in determining the right of

any person to attend or vote at the Meeting. 

APPOINTMENT OF PROXIES 
2 A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may

appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, to vote

on his/her behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the

Company. A form of proxy is enclosed and to be valid must

be lodged with the Company’s registrar, Lloyds TSB Registrars

at The Causeway, Worthing BN99 6AY not less than 48 hours

before the time fixed for the meeting. 

3 The completion of the form of proxy will not preclude share

holders from attending and voting in person at the meeting. 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – NOTES ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE 
4 CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies

through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may

do so for the Annual General Meeting to be held on Friday,

21 July 2006 and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the

procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal

members or other CREST sponsored members, and those

CREST members who have appointed a voting service

provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting

service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate

action on their behalf. 

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using

the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST

message (a ‘CREST Proxy Instruction’) must be properly

authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s specifications and

must contain the information required for such instructions,

as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless

of whether it relates to the appointment of a proxy or to an

amendment to the instruction given to a previously

appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so

as to be received by Lloyds TSB Registrars (ID 7RA01) by no



later than 12.30am on Wednesday, 19 July 2006. For this

purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as

determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the

CREST Applications Host) from which Lloyds TSB Registrars

are able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the

manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of

instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be

communicated to the appointee through other means. 

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors

or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo does not

make available special procedures in CREST for any particular

messages. Normal system timings and limitations will

therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy

Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member

concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST

personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a

voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor

or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be

necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means

of the CREST system by any particular time. In this

connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their

CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in

particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning

practical limitations of the CREST system and timings. 

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction

in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the

Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 

5 The Register of Directors’ Interests, kept by the Company in

accordance with Section 325 of the Companies Act 1985, will

be open for inspection at the meeting. 

6 The proposed New Articles of Association of the Company

will be available for inspection from 13 June 2006 until the

close of the Annual General Meeting at the Registered Office

of the Company and at the offices of UBS INVESTMENT

BANK, 1 Finsbury Avenue, London EC2M 2PP for 15 minutes

before and during the course of the Annual General Meeting

of the Company. 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING VENUE 

The AGM is being held at the offices of UBS INVESTMENT BANK,

1 Finsbury Avenue, London EC2M 2PP. Entrances can be found in

either Wilson Street or Finsbury Avenue. 

Shareholders should arrive at the offices of UBS Investment Bank

in sufficient time to clear security before the commencement of

the AGM at 12.30.

Notice of annual general meeting (continued)
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MARKET PURCHASES 
The shares of Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC are listed and

traded on the London Stock Exchange. Investors may purchase

shares through their stockbroker, bank or other financial

intermediary. 

SHARE DEALING SERVICES 
The Company has arranged for Shareview Dealing, a telephone and

internet share sale service offered by Lloyds TSB Registrars to be

made available. For telephone sales call 08708 500852 between

8.30am and 4.30pm, Monday to Friday and for internet sales log

on to www.shareview.co.uk/dealing

SAVINGS SCHEME & ISA 
Alternatively, the Company has made arrangements for you to be

able purchase shares in Polar Capital Technology Trust PLC through

a share saving scheme (Polar Capital Technology Trust Share

Scheme) and an ISA (Polar Capital Technology Trust ISA)

administered by BNP Paribas Fund Services. BNP Paribas Fund

Services is authorised and regulated by the FSA. 

• The share savings scheme is a way of acquiring shares in the

Company with lump sums of a minimum of £500 or £50 per

month. 

• The ISA enables investors to invest with the benefits of the

tax advantages granted to ISA. The minimum lump sum is

£2,000 or £50 per month. Annual management fee of £30

(plus VAT) on direct applications or up to 1.25% pa for IFA

advised schemes. 

• The only investments held in the savings scheme and ISA are

the shares of Polar Capital Technology Trust, no other

investments are made on your behalf. 

• The savings scheme and the ISA are administered by BNP

Paribas Fund Services and are subject to the key features

document which should be read before entering into the

investment. Dealing commission and stamp duty are charged

on transactions and administration fees for the transfer of

shares in to or out of these schemes. 

investing
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Please remember that the savings scheme and ISA carries the risk

that the value of the investment and where applicable the interest

income, can fall as a result of fluctuations in the value of Polar

Capital Technology Trust plc, the market and interest rates. This risk

may result in an investor not getting back their original amount

invested. The Polar Capital Technology Trust plc is allowed to borrow

against its assets, this may increase losses triggered by a falling

market. However the Company can increase or decrease its

borrowing levels to suit market conditions. 

It is advised that you seek independent professional advice before

investing your money into this scheme or ISA. Before investing it is

important you read through the key features document to

understand the nature and risks associated with such investment

products. 

For a copy of the key feature document for the savings scheme

and ISA please contact: 

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Ltd (Polar Capital) 

Block C, Western House, Lynchwood Business Park, 

Peterborough PE2 6BP 

Telephone: 0845 358 1109 

or 00 44 1733 285784 if phoning from overseas

Fax: 01733 285822 
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